

ADVANCE WITH ATOS ORIGIN

2007 HALF-YEAR REPORT

This document is a full free translation of the original French text.

The original document has been filed with the Autorité des Marchés Financiers (AMF) on 28 August 2007, in accordance with article 212-13 of the AMF's general regulations.

After filing, this document as a Reference Document could be used to support a financial operation if accompanied by a prospectus duly approved by the AMF.

CONTENTS

1	FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 4
2	CEO MESSAGE 6
3	GROUP GOVERNANCE 8
4	THE IT SERVICES MARKET 10
5	OPERATIONAL REVIEW
6	TRANSFORMATION PLAN 25
7	HUMAN RESOURCES REVIEW
8	FINANCIAL REVIEW 42
9	HALF-YEAR FINANCIAL REPORT 46
10	COMMON STOCK EVOLUTION AND SHARE PERFORMANCE
11	SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS
12	PERSONS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE DOCUMENT AND THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
13	GLOSSARY – DEFINITIONS
14	CONTACTS

Atos Origin

We design, build and operate IT-enabled business processes.

We integrate business and technology, globally.

We focus on carefully chosen market sectors.

We improve the effectiveness of our clients' businesses.

About Atos Origin

Atos Origin is an international information technology services company. Its business is turning client vision into results through the application of consulting, systems integration and managed operations. The Company's annual revenues are EUR 5.4 billion and it employs over 50,000 people in 40 countries. Atos Origin is the Worldwide Information Technology Partner for the Olympic Games and has a client base of international blue-chip companies across all sectors.

Atos Origin is quoted on the Paris Eurolist Market and trades as Atos Origin, Atos Euronext Market Solutions, Atos Worldline and Atos Consulting.

1 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

(in EUR million)	6 months ended 30 June 2007	6 months ended 30 June 2006 (d)	% Change
Income Statement			
Revenue	2,890	2,696	+7.2%
Operating margin	118	133	-12%
% of revenue	4.1%	4.9%	
Operating income	108	59	
% of revenue	3.7%	2.2%	
Net income (Group share)	57	10	+450%
% of revenue	2.0%	0.4%	
Normalised net income (Group share) (c)	68	86	-21%
% of revenue	2.4%	3.2%	
<u>Earnings per share (EPS)</u>			
Basic EPS (a)	0.83	0.15	
Diluted EPS (b)	0.83	0.15	
Normalised basic EPS (a) (c)	0.99	1.28	
Normalised diluted EPS (b) (c)	0.99	1.27	
(in EUR million)	30 June 2007	31 December 2006	% Change
Other Key Indicators			
Net debt to equity ratio	27%	20%	
Employees at period end	50,310	49,861	+1%

(a) In euros, based on a weighted average number of shares.

(b) In euros, based on a diluted weighted average number of shares.

(c) Based on net income (Group share) before unusual, abnormal and infrequent items (net of tax).

(d) June 2006 has been restated to be in line with December 2006 and June 2007 equity-based compensation classification in personnel expenses compared to classification in other operating income and expenses in June 2006.

6 months revenue by service line



Consulting

Managed Operations

Systems Integration

6 months revenue by geographical area



6 months revenue by industry sector





- Public Sector and Utilities
- Finance
- Manufacturing
- Telecom and Media
- CPG and Retail
- Others (ie Transport)

2 CEO MESSAGE

Dear Shareholders,

On February 5 this year, and after analysis of our operations over the end of 2006, we announced the launch of our Transformation Program, named "3o3 Plan". The 3 objectives of this plan, over the next 3 years, are clearly described:

- Accelerate our Organic growth
- Increase our Operational efficiency
- Operate as a global company

The plan is articulated around 7 initiatives: Sales, Industrialization, Offshoring, Managed Services Global Factory, Support Functions, Talents and Purchasing, each contributing to the objectives we have set ourselves.

After 5 months, all our project teams have made significant progress, and our plan is well underway. It is essential for Atos Origin to combine its core expertise and close customer relationships with better competitiveness on prices and services customised to specific business sectors. We have for example in the Sales initiative launched the Atos Origin University Sales & Markets, which will ultimately train the equivalent of the total Atos Origin sales force every year. This will allow us to strengthen our sales culture and push further cross selling within the organization. Furthermore, in the Managed Services Global Delivery initiative, mainframe consolidation is well underway to Essen, Germany, with our Italian operations now totally moved and the Dutch transfer already 50% completed. In Offshoring, we have implemented a change in governance model between the European and Offshore activities. This evolution has significantly increased the demand for offshore capabilities, exceeding our initial targets, leading us to increase our 2009 offshore targets to 8,000 staff.

In February we also indicated that 2007 needs to be the year of a significant improvement for the Britsih and Italian operations, after a very disappointing performance in 2006, leading to overall not satisfactory results for the Group. At the half-year mark, I am pleased to say that significant progress has been made in the United Kingdom, after the arrival of Keith Wilman as the new country CEO. In Italy, where Arnaud Ruffat was appointed country CEO, the market conditions remain difficult and the effects of the restructuring plan we have led are still in front of us. However, the Company improved its operational performance in the second quarter of the year.

During the first half of 2007, following the expressions of interest we had received, we explored strategic options with third parties to further the group's development while enhancing shareholder value. On May 11th, at the end of the period set by the Group, no binding offer had been received and the Supervisory and Management Boards have unanimously concluded that it is in the best interest of all Group stakeholders to pursue and accelerate, on a stand-alone basis, the value-creating strategy announced in February this year. The Group has thus terminated all discussions with third parties and concentrates on the execution of the transformation plan in order to reach the 2009 objective.

The first half of 2007 has also witnessed the evolution of our Management Team. The Management Board beyond myself is now composed of Philippe Germond, Deputy CEO and announced as my successor, Wilbert Kieboom and Eric Guilhou, respectively in charge of Operations and of the Global Functions, who both report to Philippe. This tightened Management Board is supported by a strengthened Executive Committee, the operational management body of the Group.

We also have made good progress on our other priorities for 2007.

In the Payments area, the integration between Atos Worldline and Banksys is well on track, and the overall performance has proven significantly better than planned. We will pursue the opportunities to expand this business.

The organic growth both in the Systems Integration and in the Managed Operations activities is encouraging. The operating margin reached is in line with our expectations, combined with the implementation of the Transformation Plan which will start to provide soon its first benefits are good signs.

I am confident that our solid backlog, the signatures of the first half of the year and the level of our qualified pipeline will allow us to reach the objective of top line growth of +8.5% in 2007.

On my request, Philippe Germond will be the Chairman of the Management Board starting 1 October 2007 and I will leave the Company on 31 December 2007 after 17 years in the Group during which I have served our clients, our employees, our shareholders and all other parts.

The Management Board and the Executive Committee members are totally focused on transforming the Group and achieving our targets for 2007. This is the first step in the road to deliver our 2009 objective of doubling our operating margin and generate a strong free cash-flow in 2009.

Bernard Bourigeaud Chairman of the Management Board & CEO

3 GROUP GOVERNANCE

Atos Origin is incorporated in France as a "société anonyme" (Joint Stock Corporation) with a Management Board and a Supervisory Board. This two-tier structure separates management and supervision, helping achieve sound corporate governance.

3.1 THE MANAGEMENT BOARD

The Management Board is currently composed of a Chief Executive Officer, a Deputy CEO and two other executives. The composition of the Management Board reflects a balanced range of business, financial, human resources, marketing and international experience which Atos Origin believes is essential for the continued success of a global IT services business.

The Management Board is responsible for the general management of the Company's business and meets as frequently as necessary in the Company's interests. In the case of split decisions, the Chairman of the Management Board has the casting vote. The Management Board has broad powers to represent the Company in its dealings with third parties. Although each of the members of the Management Board has specific executive responsibilities, all of its members are collectively empowered to manage the Company's business.

Name	Operational functions	Transversal functions
Bernard Bourigeaud	Chairman of the Management Board and Chief Executive Officer	M&A and relationship with large customers
Philippe Germond	Vice Chairman of the Management Board and Deputy CEO	303 Transformation Plan, Atos Worldline, AEMS, Major Events and the Olympics projects, Global Markets, Marketing, Communication and Public Relations, Investor and Industry Analyst Relations, Risk Management
Eric Guilhou	Senior Executive Vice President Global Functions	Finance, Human Resources, Processes and IT, Purchasing, Legal and Internal Audit
Wilbert Kieboom	Senior Executive Vice President Operations	Country operations, Service Lines (Consulting, Systems Integration and Managed Operations) and Sales

The responsibilities of the Management Board were attributed on 11 June 2007.

3.2 THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Since January 2007, as part of the transformation plan, a Group Executive Committee has been created to drive the operational performance of the Group. Its main tasks are to define and review business priorities, review Atos Origin operational performance and the execution of the 3O3 program on a monthly basis and define corrective action plans. It is a dedicated forum for operational management of the Group, the operational link between the Group and the Management Board, and it allows the Management Board to focus on developing the Group, including very high level customer relationships, negotiation of partnerships and alliances and development of specialised businesses. The Executive Committee increases exchanges and collaboration between operations, services lines, sales and support functions.

The key members are the CEOs of the large countries and Atos Worldline, heads of Global Service Lines, head of Group Sales and Markets, and heads of Group functions.

3.3 THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

The Supervisory Board is currently composed of six members from various backgrounds, including both commercial and manufacturing operations, and financial institutions.

The Supervisory Board has written internal rules and responsibilities ("règlement intérieur") that define the rules and responsibilities of the Supervisory Board and of its committees. The Supervisory Board adheres to a Charter that is described in more detail in the annual report. It delegates certain powers to the Management Board to ensure effective control of the Company.

The Supervisory Board is now composed of the following members :

Name	Nationality	Age	Date of appointment	Committee member	Term of offices (a)
Didier Cherpitel (Chairman)	French	62	2004	A,I,R,N	2009
Dominique Bazy	French	55	1997	А	2009
Diethart Breipohl	German	67	2005	R,N	2009
Jan P. Oosterveld	Dutch	62	2004	I, R, N	2007
Vernon Sankey	British	57	2005	I	2007
Michel Soublin	French	61	2004	А	2007

A : Audit Committee

I : Investment Committee

R : Remuneration Committee

N : Nomination Committee

(a) General meeting of shareholders deciding on the accounts of the year.

4 THE IT SERVICES MARKET

4.1 MARKET

4.1.1 Market Conditions

Consulting and Systems Integration have returned to positive growth, despite the world economy reportedly slowing for the second year in a row. Business restructuring, the optimisation of legacy systems, M&A activity and new EU regulations are driving slow, but steady, growth in consulting and project work. There is a strong focus on measurable value, and mature customers are being cautious, often preferring a step by step approach with multiple small projects, rather than signing one large deal for their transformation initiatives. The shortage of skills in key IT areas (eg: SOA, legacy systems) continues, particularly in main land Europe, and is a driver for nearshore and offshore delivery models. Outsourcing maintains similar growth as 2006 with the United Kingdom leading the pack in terms of deal sophistication, BPO and offshore adoption, followed by The Netherlands. Economic pressure in Germany is forcing organisations to look at outsourcing. An example is application outsourcing in the banking sector, however decisions can take longer and require more consensus building than in other parts of Europe. It still remains challenging for non-German service providers to enter the German market, and several high profile deals have led a number of commercial organisations to consider selling their own IT capabilities on the market. Recent decisions by large French organisations to undertake an often selective outsourcing strategy, coupled with a new focus on application outsourcing, signals growth in the French outsourcing market, and a cautious interest in global delivery models.

The high rates of outsourcing deal re-negotiations seen in 2006 has slowed, but is followed by an increased focus on governance and sourcing strategy. Optimizing outsourcing effectiveness is becoming a high priority for many C- level executives, and a new growth area for outsourcing advisors.

Private Equity interest in the IT services market has continued in 2007, but so far with no major European acquisitions. We are starting to see Private Equity exercising an influence on the scale and nature of IT outsourcing deals in company restructurings, as well as Private Equity acquiring IT market research and outsourcing advisory organisations.

4.1.2 Competitive environment

For 2007 we expect the top ten IT service providers by revenue in Europe to remain the same as last year. However, 2007 started with mixed results from the leading global players. For example; after revenue decline in 2006 for CSC, they are now predicting 6%-7% organic growth for the coming financial year. T-Systems reported Q1 2007 revenues down 5.1% year-on-year, and Fujitsu Services reported revenues up by 4% on a comparable basis to year end 31 March 2007. EDS reported a 3% growth in the first quarter of 2007, down from 2006. LogicaCMG reported revenue up around 4% overall in Q1 but with a decline of 4% in the United Kingdom. Getronics also saw lower than expected performance in the United Kingdom, resulting in an overall decline in revenue in the first quarter.

The US and European based service providers have been streamlining their operations, stressing a focus on business value and innovation, investing in capabilities and strengthening their offshore presence. For example; in June IBM announced its intent to acquire Telelogic, the Swedish headquartered Application Lifecycle vendor, Capgemini has acquired Kanbay.

The stellar numbers continue to come from the off-shore providers, namely the top five Indian firms TCS, Wipro, Infosys, Satyam and HCL. Revenue growth of the three largest Indian players was around 40% for year end 31 March 2007. Operating margins were still above 20%. Overall Wipro grew by 38% slightly less than Infosys (+44%) and TCS (+41%) and its operating margin is somewhat smaller than Infosys (27.6%) and TCS (24.9%). In Europe, both Infosys and Wipro have the same level of revenues: around \$800 million while TCS is much higher at \$1.2 billion.

The Indian companies are becoming more broad based and are competing not only in application services, but increasingly in IT infrastructure management, IT consulting and BPO.

Looking forward we expect to see consolidation, and M&A activity, amongst Eastern European service providers, which could eventually lead to new competition that will start to focus on the Western European market.

Overall, competition continues to be intense, and the more mature customers are beginning to look for new sourcing models and ways of working with their service providers.

4.1.3 Trends

In our 2006 annual report we identified six key trends that are re-shaping the IT services market today; 1) The Continuing Drive For Cost Reduction, 2) Industrialisation And The Emergence Of The IT Utility, 3) The Growth Agenda, 4) Increasing Globalisation,5) The Growth In Multi-sourcing And The Emergence Of The Aggregator, and 6)The Growth Of BPO.

These underlying trends will continue through 2007 and into 2008 as outlined in the annual report. The speed at which these six trends play out in Europe, and around the world, will depend on the conditions and cultures in individual countries and industries.

The Growth Of BPO is perhaps the most difficult to predict due the immature, fragmented and opportunistic nature of the market. One change we expect to emerge through 2007 however, is increasing barriers to entry in horizontal BPO, such as Finance and Accounting. The opportunity for service providers to start small and learn is diminishing rapidly as the demand for more comprehensive services is increasing.

Increasing Globalisation combined with Industrialisation And The Emergence Of The IT Utility are the current trends most likely to have the biggest influence on the shape of the IT services market in the longer term. In particular, there is a growing desire to pay for access to technology and business outcome, not for use of technology. This in turn will drive new options and models that could cannibalize or eliminate existing markets.

In addition to the six existing trends listed above, we expect to see a seventh trend starting to visibly impact the IT services market in 2007 and 2008;

The Drive For Sustainability: Sustainability encompasses the financial, environmental and social responsibilities of enterprises and governments, and is sometimes called the "3Ps" – profit, people and planet. The 3Ps go beyond many traditional Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) programs and have been most visible in areas of the business such as property and facilities management. However, we have already seen enterprises starting to push their 3Ps requirements through to their IT organizations and their IT services providers. In addition, there is a growing awareness that IT directly impacts the amount of CO2 emissions and can impact the reduction of CO2 emissions. Strong public and political interest will ensure that Corporate Sustainability – the 3Ps - becomes a major trend in the industry that will affect all suppliers, users and IT organizations

4.1.4 Service lines

Consulting

Market growth in Europe is estimated at 5% to 6% per year to 2010 (Source: Gartner Western Europe IT Services Market Database). Across industry sectors, business intelligence, security and architecture consulting (especially SOA) are key growth drivers. Other growth drivers tend to be industry specific. For example; RFID in CPG, manufacturing and logistics, MiFID in financial services. Overall a clear distinction is emerging between business consulting standalone and the growing area of "consulting led" IT services engagements – where service providers use consultants to build close relationships with clients and construct business focussed, results orientated engagements. Industry focussed consulting will increasingly become an integral part of winning and delivering systems integration and long term outsourcing deals.

Systems Integration

The systems integration market shows steady growth driven by pursuit of value, legacy optimisation and regulatory changes. Market growth in Europe is estimated at 6% to 7% through to 2010 (Source: Gartner Western Europe IT Services Market Database), with application development approximately one third of the market. The application development and management market is healthy but prices are under continuous pressure. Testing is currently a niche growth area driven by the rate of business change, increased rigor required from regulatory requirements, a lack of customer capability, and cost. The testing market however is still evolving, and far from mature.

Although project services in Europe are returning to positive growth, the market has changed from the last major growth wave. One major change is the intense focus on value and performance measures. Together with a recent increase in staff to meet short term skill needs, there is an underlying trend to fixed price, service level based, contracts by the more mature customers.

Longer term, we expect the market to polarise with service providers needing to focus on either low cost functional services, or providing deeper, higher value services based on industry knowledge. The larger service providers could potentially do both.

Managed Operations

The IT infrastructure outsourcing and management services market is relatively mature, with analysts reporting the market share for the top ten providers remaining stagnant at 43% World wide and 57% in Europe. Growth in Europe is estimated at 8.1% to 2010 (Source: Gartner Western Europe IT Services Market Database). Datacenter outsourcing has the slowest predicted growth at 7.4% with network outsourcing showing the highest at 8.9%. While growth continues, per-unit prices will decline, putting pressure on service providers to reduce costs through increasing industrialization and offshore delivery.

Cost reduction and skill shortages remain major drivers for outsourcing, however deals are becoming more complex and there is an increased interest in flexibility, supporting business change and aligning with business requirements.

The decline in major outsourcing deals that has been reported by some analysts and advisors in the US, has not been reflected in Europe to the same extent. Average contract values and terms were up in 2006, but the long term trend will be down as the market slowly evolves from one of asset and management transfer to one of discreet services. Today contract terms are typically 3 to 5 years and average contract value less than 100M Euro.

Multi-sourcing strategies are common and a recent Gartner survey showed over a third of organisations planning to increase their number of major service providers – the current average number is 3.9.

Payment Services: The payment services business process outsourcing (BPO) market is extremely diverse, containing a combination of suppliers with a back-ground in various industry-specific processes, as well technology specialists and IT services providers. The market is stating to mature and we expect consolidation amongst service providers to continue. Growth is being driven by regulatory changes (eg: the Single European Payments Area), a proliferation of payment styles (eg: mobile payments), and security (eg: chip and pin in the United Kingdom, and the use of holograms).

4.2 MARKET SHARE AND COMPETITORS

According to Gartner, Atos Origin is the sixth largest IT services company in Europe. IT service market share rankings in Western Europe were as follows:

Ranking in Europe	Competitors in Europe	Western Europe Revenues 2006 (a)	Western Europe Market share
		10 501	0.00/
1	IBM	10,581	8.0%
2	Capgemini	6,270	4.7%
3	Accenture	5,865	4.4%
4	T-Systems	5,211	3.9%
5	EDS	5,086	3.8%
6	Atos Origin	5,044	3.8%
7	ВТ	4,459	3.4%
8	LogicaCMG	3,550	2.7%
9	Fujitsu	3,271	2.5%
10	Computer Sciences Corporation (CSC)	3,117	2.3%

 Total market size Western Europe
 132,782
 39.5%

 Source: Company Information – IT Services Europe Preliminary Market Share Gartner : April 2007 in USD with 1 USD = 0.79716 EUR
 0.79716 EUR

(a) In EUR million, based on Professional Services include Consulting Services (Consulting for Atos Origin), Development and Integration Services (Systems Integration for Atos Origin), IT Management (Managed Services for Atos Origin) and Process Management (On-line Services and BPO for Atos Origin), but excluding Product Support (Hardware and Software Maintenance and Support).

According to Gartner, based on 2006 figures for external IT spending, Professional Services market shares in each main country were as follows:

Country	Market Size (in EUR million)	Weight	Atos Origin Market Share	Atos Origin Ranking	Market Leader
United Kingdom	46,635	35%	2.2%	10	British Telecom
Germany	26,776	20%	2.2%	12	T-systems
France	16,834	13%	9.9%	2	Cap Gemini
Italy	9,487	7%	3.1%	7	IBM
The Netherlands	8,868	7%	11.9%	1	Atos Origin
Spain	7,493	6%	4.0%	7	INDRA
Other Europe	16,689	13%	0.7%		
Western Europe	132,782	100%	3.8%	6	

Source: Company Information – IT Services Europe Preliminary Market Share Gartner : April 2007 in USD with 1 USD = 0.79716 EUR

5 OPERATIONAL REVIEW

5.1 OPERATING PERFORMANCE

The underlying operating performance on the ongoing business is presented within operating margin, while unusual, abnormal or infrequent income or expenses (other operating income/expenses) are separately itemised and presented below the operating margin, in line with the CNC recommendation of 27 October 2004, before arriving at operating income.

(in EUR million)	6 months ended 30 June 2007	% margin	6 months ended 30 June 2006 (*)	% margin	% change	% organic change (**)
Revenue	2,890		2,696		7.2%	+2.7%
Operating margin	117.7	4.1%	133.0	4.9%	-12%	
Other operating income (expenses)	(10.0)		(74.5)			
Operating income	107.7	3.7%	58.5	2.2%	84%	

(*) June 2006 has been restated to be in line with December 2006 and June 2007 equity-based compensation classification in personnel expenses compared to classification in other operating income and expenses in June 2006. (**) Organic growth at constant scope and exchange rates

The Group achieved an operating margin of EUR 117.7 million (4.1% of revenue) in H1 2007 compared with EUR 133.0 million (4.9% of revenue) in H1 2006.

The details from operating margin to operating income are explained in the financial review, in the following chapter.

5.2 REVENUE

5.2.1 Organic growth

Revenues for the first half ended 30 June 2007 amounted to EUR 2,890 million, up +7.2% against EUR 2,696 million for the equivalent period last year.

In the past 12 months, the Group has disposed of a number of businesses, which removed EUR 10 million from the comparative revenue base – mainly Actis in Germany, Twinsoft in Spain and Chile.

The companies Banksys and BCC acquired in December 2006 contributed for EUR 136 million in H1 2007.

Other restated elements are composed of the impact of exchange rate variations for EUR 0.5 million and change of accounting method for EUR 3.7 million.

After adjusting for disposals and at constant exchange rates, the H1 2006 revenue base was EUR 2,681 million.

(in EUR million)	6 months ended 30 June 2007	6 months ended 30 June 2006	% change	
Published revenues	2,890	2,696	+7.2%	
Disposals		(10)		
Acquisitions	+136			
Exchange rate impact and others		(4)		
Organic revenues (*)	2,754	2,681	+2.7%	

(*) Organic growth at constant scope and exchange rates

Revenues in H1 2007 represented an organic growth of +2.7%, of which +2.5% in the first quarter, and a slight acceleration in the second quarter to +2.9%.

(In EUR million)	Quarter 1 2007	Quarter 2 2007	Half-year 1 2007
Revenue	1,435	1,455	2,890
% top line growth	+6.9%	+7.5%	+7.2%
% organic growth (*)	+2.5%	+2.9%	+2.7%

(*) Organic growth at constant scope and exchange rates

5.2.2 Revenue per nature evolution

(in EUR million)	6 months ended 30 June 2007	% Total	6 months ended 30 June 2006	% total	% change	% organic change (*)
Sales of services	2,792	97%	2,537	94%	+10.1%	+6.0%
Purchase for re-selling	98	3%	158	6%	-38.1%	
Total	2,890	100%	2,696	100%	+7.2%	+2.7%

(*) Organic growth at constant scope and exchange rates

During the period, in line with the strategy to focus revenues on added-value and higher margin sales, sales of services represented 97% of total revenues, compared with 94% last year, and recorded a growth of +10.1% and +6.0% on an organic basis.

5.2.3 Revenue by geographical area

The revenue performance by geographical area was as follows:

(in EUR million)	6 months ended 30 June 2007	6 months ended 30 June 2006	% growth	% organic growth (*)	2007 revenue breakdown
France	807	809	-0.3%	+0.3%	28%
United Kingdom	528	541	-2.3%	-4.2%	18%
The Netherlands	548	519	+5.6%	+5.6%	19%
Germany + Central Europe	293	289	+1.2%	+3.2%	10%
Rest of EMEA	523	375	+39.6%	+4.4%	18%
Americas	118	98	+20.2%	+29.7%	4%
Asia – Pacific	74	65	+13.9%	+19.8%	3%
Total	2,890	2,696	+7.2%	+2.7%	100%

(*) Organic growth at constant scope and exchange rates

The revenue organic growth performance by geography shows that all the geographic areas generated organic growth except the United Kingdom.

The operations have been impacted in the United Kingdom and in Italy by a reorganization / restructuring program which has been implemented in the second half of 2006 in order to come back to profitability as soon as possible. The effect was a down-sizing of the operations and therefore the comparison basis between the first half 2007 and the corresponding period in 2006 is impacted by this down-sizing.

In France, the revenue showed a slight organic growth of +0.3% composed of:

- ➢ -5.5% decrease in AEMS France;
- > Negative growth from France Consulting at -19.9%.
- Atos Worldline in France and France Managed Services grew respectively by +4.2% and +6.4% while Systems Integration is showing a very slight decrease

The decrease by -19.9% in France Consulting represents EUR 6 million and comes mainly from the ramp-down of two contracts where the activity was high last year, one with an insurance company and the other one named Copernic with the French Ministry of Finance. This explains a decrease by EUR 4.5 million out of the EUR 6 million, the remaining amount comes from a shortage of staff mainly in the financial sector. A recruitment campaign has been launched in order to increase the number of hiring and the effect in revenue should be visible as soon as the second half of the year.

Atos Euronext Market Solutions in France saw its revenue decreasing by -5.5% compared with last year where it benefited from one-off projects billed to Euronext for the transformation and the integration of the Euronext.Liffe IT platform.

Systems Integration France saw its revenue decreasing by -0.5% although the key performance indicators show a solid utilization rate at 83% and an average daily rate which increased by more than 7% from January to June 2007. Despite an attrition rate in this activity at 10.6%, meaning below Group average, the main issue remains the level of resources. In Systems Integration, the first half of 2007 has been focused on actions in order to reach a proportion of 50% close-shore staff compared to total. This objective has been successfully achieved and a plan has been launched in Q2 07 to increase staff volumes by hiring during the second half of the year. The plan is organised around global actions on recruitment campaigns, specific actions on targeted staff and retention actions. Actions have been implemented as well in order to increase the off-shore demand to India with contracts such as Renault and for near-shore in Morocco with banking customers.

Managed Services France, excluding Atos Euronext Market Solutions, is showing a growth of +6.4%. This includes ramp-ups which started at the beginning of the year and a good level of upselling business on existing clients.

In **the United Kingdom**, revenue decreased by -4.2% organic mainly impacted by Consulting with -16.7% organic decrease and Managed Operations with -2.7%. In the meantime, the Systems Integration limited its negative organic growth to -1.7%.

As already mentioned, the restructuring program implemented in the second half of 2006 and at the beginning of 2007 has downsized the operations and has an effect when comparing the period with the corresponding one of 2006.

In Managed Operations, the end of Metropolitan Police incurred in June 2006 has negatively impacted the revenue growth in the first half of 2007. Excluding this impact, the United Kingdom Managed Operations organic growth was +8.4%.

The contracts signed at the end of 2006 had a transition phase which is now nearly completed by the end of June 2007. These contracts did not provide in the first half 2007 the full service revenue due to the progressing transition period but, with the exception of NHS Diagnostics, will allow full service revenues as of the third quarter of 2007. On July 25th, the Department of Health has elected to terminate the NHS Diagnostics contracts which will slightly affect the expected growth in the second half of 2007 but partly compensated by incremental revenue with other contracts.

The Netherlands continue to generate a good organic growth at +5.6% despite tough market conditions in Consulting. This activity was stable despite a high attrition rate which reflects tensions on labour market. These are the results of the positive effects over the second quarter of 2007 to compensate the high attrition by increasing the utilization rate which increased by nearly 10 points between January and June 2007.

In Systems Integration, the organic growth is +6.3% and reflects a very active business despite a high attrition. The access to flexible subcontracting and the increase of offshore capacity has helped in generating the organic growth.

In Managed Services, The Netherlands generated a +6.5% organic growth. On top of the ramp-up of new contracts with ING, Delta and Telegraaf signed at the end 2006, the organic growth was reached by up-selling business for existing customers such as Nuon and the ramp-up of contracts signed at the beginning of 2006 such as Heijmans. This performance was reached despite the regular decline of

clients such as Philips and KPN. On 18 July 2007, KPN and Atos Origin announced that they have signed Heads of Agreement and Letters of Intent redefining their relationship in The Netherlands in order to reflect the changes in KPN's strategy. Atos Origin will continue to deliver most of the current services to KPN and the contracts will be extended with a minimum duration of 3 years. Atos Origin will transfer three of its six datacenter sites in the Netherlands back to KPN. The transfer is in line with Atos Origin's datacenter strategy, aiming at consolidating its existing datacenters into high availability main sites in The Netherlands and other key countries. Atos Origin will continue to perform application maintenance and enhancement services for KPN on the current application portfolio and data centres services. KPN has selected Atos Origin as its sole System Integrator for Enterprise Application Integration and for Delivery Orchestration.

In **Germany Central Europe**, the organic growth is +3.2%. After two years of integrating IT platforms for the two main customers KarstadtQuelle and E-Plus, Germany Central Europe is delivering strong benefits to these customers based on the long term contractual commitments. The consolidation of datacenters in Germany and the build-up of a strong application management platform allowed to make up-selling revenue on the existing customer base. This was particularly in Systems Integration which grew by +6.4%. This also allowed leveraging the infrastructure management in Germany to lead the European mainframe centers in Germany.

In the **rest of EMEA**, the total growth is +39.6% and came mainly from Banksys integrated as of January 2007 and which contributed for EUR 136 million in the first six months of 2007.

The organic growth is +4.4% as a mix between areas growing with double digits and Italy with a planned revenue decrease according to the restructuring plan which led to -5.5%. The growing areas are as follows:

- Spain with strong organic growth at +12.2% from a good development in financial services with banking institutions such as BBVA, Caja Madrid, Bankinter and La Caïxa and in public sector with Renfe National Railways,
- Mediterranean countries which grew organically at +46.3% and Africa at +97.9% with several new contracts mainly in the telecom sector with Digitel, Swisscom, Avea or Maroc Telecom. Some contracts with telecom operators have been transferred from Italy to Turkey,
- Belgium with +12.9% organic growth.

In Italy, revenue decreased by -5.5% mainly as a consequence of severe actions to restructure the operations, from very small size contracts not renewed on the initiative of the Company, and a reorganization of the business units. Nevertheless, the revenue decline which was -9.5% in the first quarter, was limited to -1.4% in the second quarter in 2007.

Despite a dynamic Telecom sector and extensions to new sectors signed with Regione Sicilia, the market environment is still difficult and the price pressure continues. Industry sector remains difficult particularly in Application Management and Enterprise Resource Planning.

Since Q4 2006, the Italian operations performed a significant restructuring plan which is well advanced as of June 2007 with 310 staff notified, 80 in H2 2006 and 230 in 2007 in line with expectations. Among these people, 215 staff already left the Company at 30 June 2007. As a result, and thanks to more focused management control the utilization rate increased from 78% in January to 80% in June 2007.

Americas organic growth was +29.7% and is particularly supported in South America by the effect of the Pan-American Games which will end in the course of the fourth quarter this year.

Asia Pacific is back to a strong growth in 2007 with + 19.8% thanks to Systems Integration with +40.5%. The off-shore activity made in India and in Malaysia did not contribute to this strong growth since its associated revenues are recognised as internal revenue.

5.2.4 Revenue by service line

(in EUR million)	6 months ended 30 June 2007	6 months ended 30 June 2006	% growth	% organic growth (*)	2007 revenue breakdown
Consulting	189	206	-8.4%	-6.5%	7%
Systems Integration	1,168	1,131	+3.3%	+3.9%	40%
Managed Operations	1,533	1,359	+12.8%	+3.1%	53%
Total	2,890	2,696	+7.2%	+2.7%	100%

The revenue performance by **service line** was as follows:

(*) Organic growth at constant scope and exchange rates

In H1 2007, organic revenue decrease in **Consulting** was 6.5%, with revenues of EUR 189 million compared with EUR 202 million in H1 2006 on a constant scope and exchange rates. Excluding the United Kingdom, where the strong decrease of -16.7% was expected due to the operational basis in the first months of 2006, the organic decrease was limited to -1.1%. The total performance of Consulting in H1 was affected by the ramp-down of contracts such as Ministry of Finance, an insurance company in France and Ministry of Defence in the United Kingdom which contributed more to the revenue in H1 2006. Excluding these three contracts, the revenue growth of Consulting was +1% in H1 2007 compared to H1 2006.

The average direct internal staff expressed in number of full-time equivalents has decreased by 2% during the period from 2 293 to 2 238.

At the same time the number of subcontracted FTEs has decreased by -16% from 306 to 259 particularly with the ramp-down of the Ministry of Defence contract in the United Kingdom.

Therefore, the revenue per head has decreased -5% during the period.

The attrition rate in Consulting reached 26.7% on an annual basis after a second half of 2006 at 25.3% which followed 22.2% in H1 2006. In the three major countries where the Group operates its consulting activities, there are significant tensions on the labour market making it difficult to attract and retain skilled consultants.

The utilization rate was 62% in H1 2007 after having reached 66% in H2 2006 following 65% in H1 2006. The improvement in the United Kingdom by +4% between H2 2006 and H1 2007 was offset by a decrease of 1% in France and 4% in The Netherlands in the same period.

In order to come back to the good performance of the last years, strong actions have been launched and are well underway at the same time in The Netherlands, France and the United Kingdom. In France, a new CEO has been hired externally and started to manage this activity in May 07.

Recruitment campaigns have been reinforced in the three countries in order to increase the volume of staff and to come back to organic growth. In addition, the management is focusing with specific actions in order to retain best people and to decrease the level of attrition rate.

The management is also focused on strong actions to increase the utilization rate and to come back to the good levels of the last years.

As a consequence, the utilization rate already improved in France from 66% to 71% between Q1 07 and Q2 07, and from 58% to 62% from Q1 07 to Q2 07 in The Netherlands.

Spain and Belgium continued to contribute increasingly to the revenue of Consulting with respectively EUR 28 million and EUR 8 million in the period. In both countries, the utilization rate reached 74% at the end of June 2007.

Revenues in **Systems Integration** were +3.9% higher organically in H1 2007, with revenues of EUR 1,168 million compared with EUR 1,124 million in H1 2006 on a constant scope basis. Excluding the United Kingdom and Italy which decreased organically by respectively -1.7% and -6.8%, the organic growth of the Group was +6.3%.

The organic growth was driven by The Netherlands which continues to improve its business developed last year in this area, Iberia thanks to support for a few of the Group's major international clients and good development in Financial Services and Public sector, South America with the positive impact of the Pan-American games, and Mediterranean Countries and Africa with several new contracts mainly in Telecom sector.

The average direct internal staff has increased by +1.9% during the period from 20 795 to 21 197.

In the meantime, the number of subcontractors increased by +11.4% from 1 698 to 1 892 in the same period, representing 8% of total productive staff.

As a result, the revenue per head slightly increased by +0.6% in H1 07 compared to H1 06.

The attrition rate in Systems Integration reached 15.9% on an annual basis after 14.7% in H2 2006 following 12.2% in H1 of last year. France and the United Kingdom were below Group average, in opposition to The Netherlands which suffered from an increase of attrition in the period.

The utilization rate was 80% average in the first six month of 2007, close to the level of 81% in H1 and H2 of last year. Between January and June 2007, the utilization rate improved by 2 points in the Group with France and the United Kingdom both better by 1 point respectively at 83% and 78%.

The organic revenue growth in **Managed Operations** was +3.1%, with revenues of EUR 1,533 million compared with EUR 1,355 million in the first six months of 2006 on a constant scope basis. Excluding the United Kingdom and Italy, organic growth reached +5.1% the United Kingdom organic growth in the period was -2.7% and Italy was -1.6%.

The organic growth in the period of +3.1% resulted from positive +3.3% in IT Outsourcing business, +5.1% increase in payment systems offset by a -2.6% decrease in BPO mainly due to the delay in the start of the NHS Diagnostics contract.

The increase of Managed Operations in H1 07 has been affected by the effects from the four large contracts ramp-down such as Metropolitan Police, KPN, Philips and Euronext and represented the equivalent of -4.7% organic decrease.

On the opposite, the six new large contracts signed in 2006 meaning DCA, NFUM ING, Pan-American Games, Delta, and Telegraaf represented the equivalent of +5.4% growth while some of them were in the transition phase in the first half and therefore did not deliver full service revenue which will start to flow in Q3 2007. Such transition phase contracts are NHS Scotland completed in April 2007, NFUM completed in early July 2007, Gateway Portal with the portal completed in June 2007 and DCA completed for the first phase in June 2007 and full transition completion expected in September 2007.

The organic growth of +3.1% in Managed Operations also came from the signatures made in 2007 and more up selling on existing customers.

For Atos Worldline, revenue is higher than expected thanks to better volumes within Banksys, coming from a good trend of the Run and Build activity. Banksys contributed to Atos Worldline revenue by EUR 136 million in H1 2007.

5.2.5 Order input

The Book to bill ratio in H1 2007 was 88% compared to 93% in H1 2006. On a 12 months period from 1 July 2006 to 30 June 2007, the book to bill ratio is 114% with an order entry at EUR 6 353 million.

The main signatures in renewals and new business in H1 2007 were with clients such as: Alstom, EDF and LCH Clearnet in France, ING Nationale, Nuons, and Equens in The Netherlands, Incenti, Alcatel Lucent and E-Plus in Germany, Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs, NHS Scotland, Euronext and Network Rail in the United Kingdom, Caja Madrid in Spain, BCC Vita in Italy and Tai Fook in Asia Pacific.

At the end of June 2007, full order backlog increased to EUR 8.1 billion higher by EUR +0.9 billion compared to H1 06. This represents 1.4 years of revenue before impact of the NHS Diagnostics contracts termination.

Full pipeline amounts to EUR 2.5 billion and is below H1 06 level by EUR 0.4 billion following signatures of large contracts that were made in H2 2006 for more than EUR 1.5 billion in the United Kingdom and The Netherlands.

Compared to 31 December 2006, the full pipeline increased by EUR 0.4 billion.

5.2.6 Revenue by industry sector

The revenue performance by **industry sector** was as follows:

(in EUR million)	6 months ended 30 June 2007	6 months ended 30 June 2006	% growth	% organic growth (*)	2007 revenue breakdown
Public Sector and Utilities	771	714	+7.9%	+7.3%	27%
Financial Services	645	549	+17.5%	+9.7%	22%
Manufacturing	528	533	-1.0%	-2.1%	18%
Telecoms and Media	454	483	-6.0%	-5.2%	16%
CPG & Retail	310	250	+23.8%	-6.0%	11%
Transport	111	112	-0.4%	-1.1%	4%
Others	71	54	+31.8%	+38.8%	2%
Total	2,890	2,696	+7.2%	+2.7%	100%

(*) Organic growth at constant scope and exchange rates

The Group is organised in five main industry sectors, which represent 94% of total revenues.

The Group again strengthened its **Public Sector and Utilities** position (27% of total Group revenue, with a +7.3% organic increase) with French, Dutch and British government ministries and in the healthcare sector, as well as with utilities companies. The first 6 months of 2007 benefited from the new contracts signed or renewed at the end of last year in the United Kingdom, as DCA or NHS Scotland, and Delta in utilities in The Netherlands.

The **Financial Services** sector (22% of total Group revenue, with a +9.7% organic increase) benefited from Banksys and BCC integration, and new contracts as NFUM in the United Kingdom and ING in the Netherlands.

Manufacturing (18% of total Group revenue), which includes the previous Discrete Manufacturing and Process Industries, slightly decreased over the period by -2.1% organically and benefited from new contracts in France, compensating an overall decrease in high-tech, which was directly linked to Philips account year-on-year.

Telecoms and Media represented 16% of total Group revenue, and decreased over the period

(-5.2%), as a result of clients decline such as France Telecom – Orange and Vodafone and productivity savings share with clients like KPN. Good fertilization and new businesses like Telecom Italia mitigated the trend.

Retail and CPG represented 11% of total Group revenue, and reached a strong increase over the period (+24%), due to Wordline linked to Banksys integration (mass market linked to acquiring business and terminals) with new clients as Delhaize in Belgium.

Others increase organically over the same period of last year is +38.8% and mainly explained by the effect of Pan-American Games of Rio which will end in the course of Q3 07. **Transport** sector remained flat over the period.

5.3 OPERATING MARGIN AND MARGIN RATE

5.3.1 Operating margin performance

The operating margin performance was as follows:

(in EUR million)	6 months ended 30 June 2007	6 months ended 30 June 2006	% growth
Revenue	2,890	2,696	7.2%
Operating margin before 3 O 3 costs	129.3	133.0	-2.8%
Operating margin rate	4.5%	4.9%	-0.4 pt
3 O 3 Transformation Plan costs	(11.6)		
Operating margin	117.7	133.0	-12%
Operating margin rate	4.1%	4.9%	-0.8 pt

As far as the seasonality is concerned, the start of the year is traditionally impacted by a contractual reduction in revenues on long term contracts where the Group has agreed in advance to share specific benefits with clients. There is also a global salary increase estimated at +3% in 2007 which took place at the beginning of the year and represented a negative impact of 1.6 point on the margin rate.

The performance of the operating margin in the first half of 2007 was EUR 117.7 million representing 4.1% of revenues. The operating margin rate improved in Q2 07 compared to Q1 07 by more than one point, from 3.5% to 4.6%.

(in EUR million)	Quarter 1 2007	% margin	Quarter 2 2007	% margin	Half-year 1 2007	% margin
Revenue	1,435		1,455		2,890	
Operating margin	50.5	3.5%	67.2	4.6%	117.7	4.1%

The operating margin is considered after equity-based compensations (stock options, management investment plan and long-term incentive plan) for an amount of EUR 4.9 million, after the recurring restructuring for an amount of EUR 5.5 million, and operating costs linked to the Transformation Plan for EUR 11.6 million.

5.3.2 Operating margin by service line

(in EUR million)	6 months ended 30 June 2007 (*)	% margin	6 months ended 30 June 2006 (*)	% margin	% growth
Consulting	11.5	6.1%	25.6	12.4%	-55%
Systems Integration	39.4	3.4%	35.9	3.2%	10%
Managed Operations	104.4	6.8%	105.6	7.8%	-1%
Corporate	(37.6)	-1.3%	(34.1)	-1.3%	10%
Total	117.7	4.1%	133.0	4.9%	-12%

The operating margin performance by service line was as follows:

(*) Corporate costs exclude Global Service Lines costs

The operating margin at the end of June was EUR 117.7 million representing 4.1% of revenues. Despite a significant improvement in Systems Integration and the good performance of Managed Operations, the decline in Consulting associated with the EUR 8.1 million costs of Transformation impacting the Corporate ended in a reduction by 0.8 point compared to the 4.9% of H1 2006.

The operating margin rate of 4.1% of revenue was helped by the profitability of the Managed Operations activities including the contribution from Banksys for the first time and the start of the NHS Scotland contracts during the first half of 2007.

The **Consulting** activity had a decrease of its operating margin from EUR 25.6 million to EUR 11.5 million mainly coming from lower revenue due to ramp-downs in the Ministry of Defence contract in the United Kingdom, Ministry of Finance and an insurance company in France. The decrease by 4% of the direct staff was not enough to compensate the decrease in revenue.

The improvement in **Systems Integration** comes mainly from the United Kingdom where the first half of 2006 was impacted by overruns on difficult contracts. The operating margin improved also in The Netherlands and in Germany Central Europe. As described below in geographical area analysis, the situation in Systems Integration was affected by a lower revenue base and by a lack of resources in France.

In **Managed Operations**, the operating margin reached EUR 104.4 million in H1 2007 compared to EUR 105.6 in H1 2006 with very differentiated situations by geographical area as explained below.

5.3.3 Operating margin by geographical area

(in EUR million)	6 months ended 30 June 2007 (*)	% margin	6 months ended 30 June 2006 (*)	% margin	% growth
France	30.2	3.7%	52.7	6.5%	-43%
United Kingdom	15.2	2.9%	27.4	5.1%	-45%
The Netherlands	56.3	10.3%	53.6	10.3%	5%
Germany + Central Europe	21.3	7.3%	18.5	6.4%	15%
Rest of EMEA	30.1	5.8%	13.5	3.6%	124%
Americas	4.7	4.0%	5.0	5.1%	-5%
Asia - Pacific	6.0	8.2%	3.7	5.7%	65%
Corporate central	(37.6)	-1.3%	(34.1)	-1.3%	10%
Global Service Lines costs	(8.7)	-0.3%	(7.2)	-0.3%	21%
Total	117.7	4.1%	133.0	4.9%	-12%

The operating margin performance by geographical area was as follows:

(*) Corporate central costs and Global service lines costs not allocated to the countries

In **France**, the operating margin for Consulting declined by EUR 2.1 million mainly resulting from the external revenue. The lack of business has generated more efforts in the pre-sales activity and a higher level of bench.

The organization implemented in June 2007 with a new CEO appointed is focused on recruiting new partners, managers and senior consultants and on a strong sales action plan. A recruitment campaign has been launched in order to increase significantly the number of hiring in the second half of the year. Recent new deals signed particularly in the public sector will comfort the improvement in France in the second half of the year.

In France Systems Integration, the operating margin in the first half of the year was EUR 9.8 million less than H1 2006, of which EUR 2.7 million are costs of Transformation for the industrialization plan. The remaining portion comes mainly from a slow start of the activity in January and February impacting operating margin by EUR 4.4 million and one working day less compared with 2006 having an impact of EUR 2.6 million. In parallel, net productivity improved with the industrialization plan and the certification of service centres.

The improvement of the mark-up level remains one of the top-priority for 2007. A Human Resources plan has been announced and launched in May to re-skill and re-adapt the development staff in Paris and to transfer part of the workforce from Paris to Regions. The start of off-shoring to India and near-shoring to Morocco will also contribute to lower the average daily cost.

In France Managed Services, operating margin decreased by EUR 3.4 million compared to H1 2006 of which EUR 0.6 million for transformation plan launched to improve productivity and to lower the cost base. The revenue growth coming from the start of new contracts which were still in a transition stage did not contribute yet to the operating margin.

In the **United Kingdom**, the operating margin in Consulting has been impacted by the ramp-downs of the Ministry of Defence and the Department of Work and Pensions contracts where margin dropped respectively by EUR 2.1 million and EUR 1.4 million in H1 2007 compared to the same period last year. The rest of the decrease in the operating margin came from lower revenue following the restructuring plan implemented in the second half of 2006 which has down-sized the Consulting operation in the United Kingdom.

In Systems Integration, when comparing H1 2007 to H1 2006, the operating margin increased by EUR 13 million mainly coming from a better situation in the large difficult contracts which were settled in 2007 with the exception of one.

In Managed Operations, operating margin was down compared to H1 2006 due to the ramp-down of the Metropolitan Police contract which ended in Q2 2006, a decrease of the volumes contracted with Department of Trade and Industry and the delay of the NHS Diagnostics contract.

In **The Netherlands**, the operating margin increased by EUR 2.8 million. This improvement mainly came from Systems Integration where the operating margin increased by EUR 4 million thanks to a better mark-up, strong increase in productivity of maintenance and software development projects and from the increase of off-shoring. In Managed Operations, The Netherlands were able to maintain their operating margin despite the lower volumes with KPN and Philips and transition costs on new contracts.

In **Germany & Central Europe**, the operating margin in H1 2007 increased by EUR 2.8 million compared to H1 2006. The improvement came from Systems Integration for EUR 1.5 million mainly from a better utilization rate which reached 82% in June 2007 and from margin improvement in Austria and in Poland respectively for EUR 0.5 million and EUR 0.3 million. In Managed Operations operating margin improved by EUR 1.3 million compared to H1 of last year thanks to costs savings in purchasing and synergies through optimization of datacenters. In the meantime, a contract started in 2006 provided a full effect in 2007 and compensated the long term commitments on price with large customers.

In **the rest of EMEA**, the operating margin improved from EUR 13.5 million to EUR 30.1 million which is a mix of differentiated situations.

Italy, following the restructuring plan and the down-size of the operations, in a still difficult market situation, had an operating loss of EUR -5.3 million. However, in May and June 2007 Italy was close to break-even which was encouraging for the second half of 2007.

Spain improved its operating margin and reached EUR 8.6 million mainly thanks to a better situation in Systems Integration with a better focus on projects delivery and a decrease of the overruns.

The performance of rest of EMEA has been boosted by the contribution of Banksys where the integration with Atos Worldline is well underway in order to increase the global profitability of Atos Worldline.

In the **Americas**, the operating margin had a slight decrease due to a lower revenue in North America offset by the contribution of the Pan-American games.

In **Asia Pacific**, the operating margin increased by EUR 2.3 million at EUR 6 million due to the strong increase of revenue in Systems Integration providing an additional EUR 2 million compared H1 2006.

6 TRANSFORMATION PLAN

Focusing our Efforts and Driving Change

A Transformation Plan has been launched with 3 objectives over 3 years to accelerate the organic growth, improve efficiency and operate as a global company. The financial targets are to double in absolute value the operating margin between 2006 and 2009 and to generate a strong corresponding free cash flow.

The Transformation Plan is centred on 7 initiatives, divided into more than 70 projects and impacts all countries of Atos Origin.

The 7 initiatives which are detailed below are the following:

- 1. Sales Optimisation of Sales efficiency and increase organic growth,
- 2. Industrialisation Through standardisation of processes and tools,
- 3. Offshoring Targeting 20% in offshore and nearshore by end 2009 in Systems Integration,
- 4. **Managed Operations Global Delivery** To ensure standardised, consolidated global delivery,
- 5. Talents A strong Human Resources program to attract, develop and retain best people,
- 6. Finance, HR, and IT Support Functions Stronger and more efficient key functions,
- 7. Purchasing Global purchasing to reduce costs.

Achievements H1 2007

During the first half of 2007, the Transformation Plan has already achieved a number of overall measurable results. These include:

- The opening of Atos University Sales & Markets with the objective to train and update the sales force and to define a career path
- The choice of common industrialization tools, processes and organization for all countries in Systems Integration
- The implementation of a new governance model in India with margin in the demand countries
- The start of an aggressive recruitment campaign in India doubling the number of net joiners per month as of May 2007
- The launch of a staff adaptation plan for 700 FTEs in France
- The acceleration of consolidation of mainframe activities into one centre in Germany and the closing of such activities in Italy
- Data Centre consolidation. The closing of two data centres in the United Kingdom and in Germany, 3 others preparing to close
- The launch of specific global purchasing projects on 5 priority categories to provide quick wins

The individual H1 achievements and future milestones for the seven project initiatives are detailed below.

6.1 SALES

6.1.1 Sales initiative objectives

Increasing organic growth is the first objective of the 303 Program. Therefore, the Company has decided to increase the investment in Sales, mainly on the sales force and on the offerings. Within the objectives of the Transformation Plan, the aim of the Sales Initiative is to:

- Accelerate organic growth through:
 - The creation of a strong sales culture and increased competence and motivation of the sales force
 - Delivering more added value for the customer through the introduction of Global Markets and innovation as an additional dimension to countries and service lines
 - More cross-selling and up-selling of solutions and increased leverage of existing solutions through a group-wide push-approach

• Increase operational efficiency by:

- Homogenous and aligned sales organizations, processes, tools and governance rules to maximize efficiency between sales and delivery
- Improve ability to operate as a global company by presenting:
 - One single face to the customer
 - Consistent standards for both sales and delivery across the group

6.1.2 Sales initiative achievements

During H1 2007, this initiative has delivered the following achievements:

 Reinforcing of Global Markets function – As clients increasingly expect their technology partners to be genuine business partners, rather than pure suppliers of technology services, an in-depth understanding of the clients' business is vital.

The Company has therefore decided to reinforce the Global Market function as a third dimension next to country organizations and Global Service Lines. From now on Global Markets will play a leading role in the design of the sales strategy and the development of international business. They will also fulfil operational functions such as:

- Driving and maintaining key offers to clients (e.g. MMT Maximising Manufacturing Together and NGIN Next Generation Intelligent Networks).
- Managing and updating the service portfolio in conjunction with the Service Lines.
- Providing support for international and cross service lines bids.

The setup to allow Global Markets perform these roles for the existing Global Markets (Financial Services, Telecom & Media, Manufacturing, Retail) has been launched with the objective to be completed in Q4 07.

- Increased efficiency of the sales cycle A more homogenous sales organisation is being created, governed by the same rules and processes and supported by the same tools. This will allow the Company to create the best conditions for winning new clients, implement uniform account plans for existing national and multinational accounts, and align all players involved in sales trough coherent objectives. Furthermore, it will help Atos Origin present a more "global face" towards the customer who will in turn benefit from seeing and dealing with the same organisation, mode of operations and standards across the group.
- Establishment of the Atos Origin University for Sales and Markets During H1 2007, the Company launched the Atos University Sales & Markets. This facility is crucial to the development of a strong and sustainable sales culture within the group. Its highly professional training program is targeted primarily at the sales force, but operational managers whose activity involves customer contact are equally entitled to benefit from this important training initiative.

Building on three pillars - strategic selling skills, industry knowledge, and IT knowledge - Atos University Sales & Markets takes existing training initiatives, which typically focused on one country or service line community, to a new level and introduces new state-of-the-art training concepts and tailor-made courses.

The one-week modules are highly interactive and extremely practical. In addition to classroom learning, participants work on projects that are very similar to real-life situations, and which they have to defend in front of a jury involving actual Atos Origin clients.

The entire experience favours team spirit and creates beneficial opportunities for the exchange of experience and expertise, fostering a culture of networking on an international scale. After completion of a series of modules to a certain standard, the best performers are encouraged to further their training by applying for a Senior Executive Management Program.

 Sales Career Path - The Company has decided to allocate the sales force between profiles which are more "hunter" oriented and more "farmer" oriented. It is indeed vital for the Company to increase the number of sales people with a profile of "hunter" in order to open new logos. As far as account managers ("farmers") are concerned, the Company wants to enhance the profile to include excellent sales and consultative skills and a strong understanding and experience of delivery. The company has therefore launched a career path, taking existing practices to a new level.

By mapping this sales career path to the internal "Global Capability Model" of the Company, the sales executives will have a precise knowledge of their position in the organisation and any opportunities for careers outside of sales (in delivery, consulting etc.).

This will allow finding the best match between the skill set of sales people and the customer portfolio, enabling Atos Origin to reassign sales staff as required more effectively in order to deliver increased profitable revenue growth.

6.1.3 Sales initiative next milestones

The next major milestones for the Sales Initiative over H2 2007 are:

- Global Markets:
 - Launch of additional Global Markets (Healthcare, Public Sector, Energy and Utilities) with Global Market leaders in place for all 7 global markets (Q4 07).
 - Sales Change Management:

By the end of 2007, uniform sales organisations, processes and account plans will be in place everywhere. This will be operational for 2008.

• Atos University Sales & Markets :

The University expects to train 260 sales people by the end of 2007 and 750 in 2008. This will ramp up to the equivalent of the total sales force of the Company on a full-year basis in 2009.

• Sales Career Path:

The full vision of the career opportunities for the entire sales force will be available at the start of Q4 07. This will allow the Company to optimise and reassign sales staff and achieve better and more effective productivity.

6.2 INDUSTRIALIZATION

6.2.1 Industrialization initiative objectives

Within the objectives of the Transformation Plan, the aim of the Industrialisation Initiative is to:

- Accelerate organic growth through:
 - Freeing up of resources to fuel organic growth
 - Gaining higher competitiveness and increase the win-ratio

• Increase operational efficiency by:

- Decreasing cost of delivery and project slippage by more than 1% of external revenue
- o Decreasing the number and severity of delivery accidents
- o Increasing engineering productivity per function point
- o Facilitating and enabling close-, near- and offshoring

• Improve ability to operate as a global company by:

- Sharing of best practices
- Enabling global delivery: same processes & same tools
- o Better measurement and benchmark of operational KPIs across geographies

Industrialisation is also a very important enabler for close-near- and offshoring since it will bring standardized processes with transferable deliverables across all development centres.

6.2.2 Industrialization initiative achievements

During H1 2007, this initiative has delivered the following achievements:

- The following projects have been launched:
 - o Business Requirements
 - o Software Production line
 - o Test factory
 - Productivity Management
 - o Project Management
 - o Application Mining
 - Configuration Management

The **Business Requirements** project aims at developing and managing requirements specifications of high quality (build-able and test-able), making the software engineering process more productive and predictable. A standard approach to requirement engineering provides a solid base for software development and maintenance and is also an important enabler for efficient off-shoring (clear Front-Office Back-Office. Finally, the resulting high quality requirements will contribute to a reduced test effort.

The **Software Production Line** project covers the overall efficiency improvement of the whole software lifecycle by creating "software factories" in which application development and application maintenance are executed in an industrialized fashion operating at cost at CMM3 level to optimize development and maintenance.

The other projects are related to "point solutions" covering one specific area of improvement where significant gains can be achieved.

The implementation of a **Testing Factory** aims at industrialising the software testing process leading to a reduction of 20% of the testing effort, improved test quality and reduction of elapsed time through 24/7 testing capabilities.

The main objective of the **Productivity Management** project is to make productivity measurable and provide a standardized method and tooling for estimation. Function Point Analysis (FPA) will be deployed as the standard for productivity measurement.

The **Project Management** will improve the process and tooling to enable project managers to take business responsibility for their projects, which leads to lower overrun and less administrative work. Furthermore, the implementation of tooling for the multi project management/ resource management process will reduce administrative costs.

Through the **Application Mining** project, better support will be provided to the application management community over the entire application lifecycle by:

- Providing automatically standardized technical and documentation (reverse engineering).
- Accelerating the providing of an application base line (time) and by improving estimate quality (money) in due diligences.
- Enhancing correctness of estimates by improving bug fixing in cases of significant modifications of existing code.
- Accelerating knowledge acquisition and sharing and therefore an optimal support of front office / back office delivery organizations, integration of new team members and an easier team mobility.
- Measuring quality of applications using health factors, i.e. maintainability, robustness, transferability, performance and security.

The aim of the **Configuration Management** project is to implement best-in-class standards to manage all configuration items that are being used, built and maintained. The scope comprises all configuration items including documents for development projects and application management.

For each of the above mentioned projects, teams involving experts of all main countries designed blueprint solutions on the basis of best practices existing in the Group and recognised market standards. These blueprint solutions include processes, organisation, tooling and approach to people & change.

Furthermore, a common strategy for the use of tooling based on a Shared Services Centre approach on a cost-per-seat basis was defined and agreed. This will optimize efficiency and ensure common processes and deliverables. Preparations for the Shared Service centre have meanwhile started and the centre is expected to go live in Q3 07.

On 4 July 2007, the buy-in and commitment of all Systems Integration country managers on these solutions was achieved. Furthermore, a roadmap, with a step by step improvement path and clear and measurable milestones were defined.

 CMM3 certification has been accelerated in various countries. Recently, the 6th development centre in France has been certified CMM3. Various others in Europe will follow shortly.

6.2.3 Industrialization initiative next milestones

The next major milestones for the Industrialisation Initiative are:

- Purchasing of tools completed: end of Q3 07
- Start of Country-Roll out: end of Q3 07
- Go-Live of the Shared Services Centre for tooling: end of Q3 07

6.3 OFFSHORING

6.3.1 Offshoring initiative objectives

Within the objectives of the Transformation Plan, the aim of the Offshoring Initiative is to:

Accelerate organic growth through:

- Enhanced competitiveness (lower blended rate) to increase the attractiveness of propositions and win new clients
- Access to a broader resource pool to better answer our clients' needs
- Higher growth through increased ability to recruit on- and offshore

Increase operational efficiency by:

- Having "activities performed where they belong", offering right mix of price, customer proximity and skills
- Offshore and Industrialization working jointly, industrialization being a pre-requisite to offshore

Improve ability to operate as a global company by:

- The compensation of resource shortage in Europe
- Identical governance and standards of delivery of services, irrespective of where they are produced

These objectives will be achieved by growing the amount of work delivered from Offshore and Nearshore locations from 6% in 2006 to 20% in 2009. The overall target mix for 2009 is:

- ➢ 40% of services provided onshore
- > 40% of services provided close-shore (province)
- > 20% of services provided near-and offshore locations (of which nearshore: 3%)

	Target announced in February	Target announced in May	
	6 100	8 000	
Systems Integration	4 500	6 100	
Managed Operations	1 600	1 900	

Offshoring in Atos Origin - Strengths and Differentiators

- The offshore presence of Atos Origin in Managed Operations is a strong differentiator. At the end of 2006, already more than 600 FTEs were working near / offshore for customers in Mumbai (servers), Kuala Lumpur (Desktops), Morocco (Desktops today, server management being implemented), and Poland.
- For Systems Integration, the pipeline is strong for French speaking nearshore in Morocco, especially in the Banking and Telecom sectors.
- In India, the country oriented organisation set up to meet local European requirements was very well received by customers thanks to a smooth handling of the language issue.
- Over 70% of the work is delivered on a fixed-price basis through Service Level Agreements. This represents a competitive advantage compared to pure Indian players

6.3.2 Offshoring initiative achievements

During H1 2007, this initiative has delivered the following achievements:

- In order to balance its global sourcing capabilities, Atos Origin launched projects to strengthen existing offshore, nearshore and closeshore sites in the following locations:
 India (offshore)
 - India (olishore)
 Drazil (offebore)
 - Brazil (offshore)
 - Morocco (nearshore)
 Spain (nearshore + closeshore)
 - Italy (closeshore)
 - Germany (closeshore)

Furthermore, the Company has initiated pilots in new offshore and nearshore centres in other locations Nevertheless, for the time being the main focus will remain on India.

1. India

The Indian operations have been transformed into a shared service centre organisation working on cost-basis, and the other existing offshore locations are following the same path (Brazil and Morocco are next). Consequently, with margin remaining in the demand countries and a resulting strong price differential, a significant incentive has been created in European countries to move more work to offshore and nearshore centres.

As a result, all countries have managed to achieve or even exceed their budget of the volumes (expressed in FTEs) to be offshored to India.In the U.S., 40% of the business is off-shore

In Germany in particular, Atos Origin is taking strong and promising positions in offshoring (India already represents 10% of the SI workforce in Germany) despite an overall limited maturity of the German market with regard to offshoring.

The recruitment process in India is well in place, producing approximately 100 net additions per month as of May 2007, and attrition has decreased slightly.

The company has opened in Bangalore a secondary location besides Mumbai on the basis of a contract signed using 80 FTEs and is planning to leverage this presence up to

400 seats. Furthermore, the establishment of an Atos Origin campus in Pune is planned for 2008.

For internal projects, such as the enhancement and support of the internal ERP system, India is also a key offshore location where all the technical and application maintenance has been already transferred.

2. Brazil

In Brazil, the Company is already present in Sao Paolo (1,500 FTEs working mostly for subsidiaries of large European clients). The opening of service centre is planned for the beginning of Q3 07 in Curitiba, which is about 20% more cost competitive than Sao Paulo. The centre in Curitiba will serve both the domestic market (close shore) and work for other western countries (offshore).

3. Morocco

Through the "Casanearshore" location initiated by the Government in Casablanca, Morocco has become a key nearshore country for the French market due in particular to a strong demand in the Financial Services and Telecommunications sector.

The development of the Company's nearshore centre in Morocco has gained speed and scale thanks to two factors:

- The acceleration of the Managed Services (infrastructure) implementation: Atos Origin already provides desktop services and is extending to server management
- The signature of a strategic deal with a Financial Services institution

The headcount targets for Morocco are the following: 50 full-time equivalents in 2007, 250 in 2008 and 400 in 2009

4. Armenia

An initiative specializing on Mainframe technologies has been started in Armenia. For these legacy technologies, profiles have become costly and hard to find in traditional offshore locations. This approach has been initiated with a local partner with a target to be around 200 staff in 2009.

6.3.3 Offshoring next milestones

The next major milestones for the Offshoring initiative are:

- Further acceleration of recruitment in India and preparation of the opening of a campus center in Pune
- Finalization of nearshore centre in Armenia (Q3 07)
- Setting-up of governance model in Brazil in line with the model in India (Q3 07)
- CMM3 Certification of nearshore centre in Brazil (Q3 07)

6.4 MANAGED OPERATIONS GLOBAL DELIVERY

6.4.1 Managed operations global delivery initiative objectives

Within the objectives of the Transformation Plan, the aim of the Managed Operations Global Delivery Initiative is to:

Accelerate organic growth through:

- Improve cost structure and gain productivity to compensate for structural market price erosion
- Enhanced competitiveness and flexibility to win more bids

Increase operational efficiency by:

- Protection and improvement of margin through:
 - Standardized, clarified offers and processes
 - o Consolidated structures
 - o Offshoring

o Optimized organization

Improve ability to operate as a global company by:

- Industrialization: unification and systematization of tools and processes
- Global Delivery model implemented across Managed Services

6.4.2 Managed operations global delivery initiative achievements

Nine projects have been launched worldwide with a special focus on 4 key countries: France, Germany, The Netherlands, the United Kingdom. For all technical projects, the 3 year plan is now defined and their execution has started. Overall, this initiative will allow the Company to achieve annual savings of EUR 50 million on a full-year-basis.

During H1, this initiative has delivered the following achievements:

 Mainframe Consolidation - For Europe, the Company has decided to consolidate all the IBM mainframe activities into one single mainframe centre located in Germany. The consolidation will contribute to increase the competitiveness of these activities. Furthermore, the Company has launched the creation of European competence centres which will result in staff decrease in the operations.

The mainframe consolidation project is well advanced:

- o Italy has moved to Germany in June 2007,
- 50% of clients in the Netherlands have already moved to Germany and the transfer of the remaining clients will be completed by October 2007,
- The transfer of France and the United Kingdom has been initiated and will be finalized in the course of 2008.
- End-to-end Desktop Service Optimization The on-site support activities are being optimized and made more cost-efficient through:
 - Self support tooling (fewer calls through voice servers and service portals)
 - Increased productivity and higher first-call resolution, resulting in less staff for the same number of calls
 - Increase of the volumes processed in selected offshore countries (Poland, Malaysia, Morocco and Surinam)
- Server Management Optimization The objective of this project is to create a global service delivery architecture for Server Management that enables the achievement of best in class cost effectiveness through effective use of Human resources, Infrastructure, process, & tooling. In particular, the Managed Services teams use virtualization of servers and storage on demand, thus producing savings through productivity improvement and offshoring.
- **Offshoring** Offshoring for Managed Services will develop from 600 staff (end of 2006) to 1,900 in 2009 in the Service Desk, Server Management and Monitoring activities in India, Malaysia, Poland and Morocco. Offshore sites have been assessed and action plans have been set up in order to guarantee their capability to increase their activity.
- **Overstaffing** The plan to streamline the organisation has been launched during the first half of 2007 according to the initial plan. The target is to decrease the number of headcounts by 100 staff at the end of 2007.
- Indirect Organization Actions have been taken to further reduce indirect staff where necessary.
- Data Centre Consolidation The plan to optimise the data centre infrastructure has been launched and will result already in 2007 in a reduction of number of Data Centres by 5 (out of 37 existing currently in Europe already in 2007). The objective is to divide by two the number of Data Centres by the end of 2009. The plan is also to provide high-level twin Data Centres in each main country.

- **AOSN/AOVN Optimisation** The global service network will be optimised in order to provide a cost effective solution to the cross border activities for offshore and European competence centres. The objective is to share our global service network with our internal IT network.
- Service Management Improvement The service management process and tooling will be harmonized over countries. It will mainly provide the required infrastructure for delivering the services globally and contribute to the operating margin improvement.

6.4.3 Managed operations global delivery initiative next milestones

The next major milestones for the Managed Operations Global Delivery Initiative are:

- End 2007:
 - Mainframe transfer of the Netherlands finalised (in addition to Italy)
 - 5 Data Centres closed,
 - Increase of offshore capacity by 400 to reach 1,000 staff
 - o 80% of the total overstaffing plan achieved
 - Cleanup of the organization achieved.
- Mid 2008:
 - New Global network operational (AOSN/AOVN)
- End 2008
 - Mainframe consolidation: Transfer of France and the United Kingdom completed, Mainframe fully located in Germany.

6.5 TALENTS

6.5.1 Talents initiative objectives

Within the objectives of the Transformation Plan, the aim of the Talents Initiative is to:

Accelerate organic growth through:

- Developing of a pool of high performing employees to fill key positions, to prepare for changing business models and for a more global working environment.
- Increasing the ability to develop and retain the best talented people

Increase operational efficiency through:

• Standardized and homogenous HR processes, tools and solutions to support Talent Management effectively and allow HR staff to focus on value added tasks

Improve ability to operate as a global company through:

• Fostering global and international mindset through increased mobility

Over the next three years, the aim of the initiative is to make talent management a competitive advantage in the market, to be able to attract, develop and retain the best talented employees for Atos Origin.

The Transformation Program includes comprehensive investments in people to develop their competencies and skills in order to ensure the competitive advantage of the Company for the future.

As Atos Origin develops its image as the employer of choice in the IT sector, the Company has to attract the best quality candidates to evolve into a highly-skilled, efficient, globally-minded organization. Furthermore, it needs to define challenging roles and career opportunities to keep people motivated, develop a truly global culture and to nurture the future leaders in the Company.

The talent pyramid incorporates the main focus of the Talent Management Initiative:



* HR Information System

6.5.2 Talents initiative achievements

During H1, this initiative has delivered the following achievements:

- The company has started to improve the main processes related to talent development, focusing on three key projects:
 - The implementation of a new online Global Performance Management system for setting clear and measurable objectives for performance.
 - The strengthening of the Atos University with the continuation of the Global Leadership Development Program GOLD.
 - The implementation of a new international development program (RELAY) and increase of mobility across functions
- A very experienced dedicated talent manager has been assigned to fulfil these tasks.
- Good progress has been made on the active management of individual development plan execution and the development and implementation of career paths.

6.5.3 Talents initiative next milestones

The next major milestones for the Talent Initiative are:

- Annual Human Resources Review and Talent Identification:
 - The review by the Executive Committee of key positions and position jobholders in the organization and the identification of the pool of top talents.
 - Nomination of participants in the Global Leadership Development Program (GOLD) and participants in the International development program (RELAY) :
 - From June 2007 to September 2007: Annual Human Resources Review and talent identification and validation.
 - > Q3 2007: Implementation of a mobility program called "RELAY".
- **Performance Management & Individual Development Plan**: the design and implementation of a new online Performance Management system for the Group in 2007 and the development and implementation of an online individual development plan in Q4 2007.
- **Training & Development**: the implementation of specific training initiatives aimed at competency development and improvement for specific groups of professionals in the organization. Further development of career paths based on the existing competency framework; the Global Capability Model:
 - Implementation of the Project Management and Technical Architects training and career framework (Q4 2007)
 - Implementation of a new version of GOLD (Q1 2008)
 - o Development and implementation of career paths (on-going)
- **Succession Planning**: to ensure that talent management initiatives result in actual consideration of talents for assignments and key positions within the Group.
 - o Active management of individual development plan execution (on-going)

- **Development of a new Recruitment Strategy**: The objective is to establish a new recruitment strategy based on business and market analyses.
 - Diagnostic of business requirements and market trends (July 2007)
 - Implementation of a single recruitment support system (2008)

6.6 FINANCE, HUMAN RESOURCES AND IT INITIATIVE OBJECTIVES

6.6.1 Finance, human resources and IT initiative objectives

Within the objectives of the Transformation Plan, the overall aim of the Finance, Human Resources and IT Initiative is to:

Accelerate organic growth through:

- Improved ability to deliver high value added services :
 - o Optimize profitability of organic growth
 - Enhance predictability
 - Ensure complete reliability of information

Increase operational efficiency by:

- Accelerating and increasing the efficiency of support to business and employees:
 - Enhanced Finance efficiency and cost monitoring
 - o Efficient HR systems with Employee and Management Self Services
 - Consolidation of back-office functions into Shared Services Centres

Improve ability to operate as a global company by:

- Effective support for the design and implementation of the Group strategy.
- Proactive monitoring of the evolution of service offering and pricing, customer profitability and the talent labour market.
- Helping Atos Origin to operate globally trough move from customized local solutions to single global applications.

The specific focus of the Finance initiative is on:

- The implementation of a new financial organisation and governance where all the country CFOs report directly to the Group CFO.
- The standardisation of processes and systems.
- The implementation of a Shared Services Centre.

The specific focus of the HR Initiative is on:

- The personnel administration and Payroll Process for which costs have to be reduced and the service level to be improved
- The training process which requires:
 - a more global approach led jointly by HR and the operations
 - o closer involvement of purchasing
- The recruitment process, for which a better balance between internal recruitment staff and external suppliers of hiring services has to be achieved

The specific focus of the IT initiative is on:

- Achieving standardization, simplification and economies of scale of the IT function, thus improving support to the business, reinforcing control and achieving measurable margin impact.
- Developing the internal IT tools and infrastructure of Atos Origin as a showcase for its clients.
- Reversing the current pattern of IT development to 70% central 30% local.

The transformation of IT Function is focused on 3 main projects:

- Establishing a governance model to better support Business objectives (Single IT Organization, Customer Advisory Boards).
- Helping Service line & Support function defines target business processes and develops future ERP in line with Atos Origin future business model.
- Optimizing Infrastructure costs via common solutions deployed globally (Helpdesk, Hosting).

6.6.2 Finance, human resources and it initiative achievements

Finance has delivered the following achievements:

- Implementation of a new Group controlling organization in order to reinforce the control of the operations and to better support the business
- Centralization of expert functions (Treasury, Tax and Internal Audit) in order to optimize the cost base and improve efficiency
- Streamlining of Group Financial processes in order to implement the foundations of the new Group ERP

Human Resources have delivered the following achievements:

- The streamlining and reengineering of 4 main HR processes towards a common coremodel interfaced with the countries:
 - Personal administration and payroll
 - o **Training**
 - o Recruitment
 - HR purchasing in coordination with the Purchasing initiative
 - HR Function Efficiency improvements:
 - HR job mapping and function upskilling
 - Related change management actions (on-going)

IT has delivered the following achievements:

- After the hiring of a new Group CIO who joined the Company in May 2007, Atos Origin has implemented an efficient and centralized Business Process and IT organization under a common management.
- To ensure continuous processes improvement, internal dedicated resources are in the process of being hired to design and maintain Atos Origin core processes. These resources will contribute to change the mindset of the Company in order to move to business processes stretching across organisational entities.

6.6.3 Finance, human resources and it initiative next milestones

The next major milestones in **Finance** are:

- The improved core financial processes and associated IT system requirements will be delivered by the end of the year
- The business model for the implementation of a Shared Services Centre will be completed in October. The pilot and start of deployment will take place in 2008.

The next major milestones in **HR** are:

- The streamlining and reengineering of Workforce management and planning (to be launched in 2008)
- Design, implementation and follow-up of the KPIs for the main functions and processes (End of design: 1 September 2007, go-live: Q1 2008).
- HR Function Efficiency Enhancement: The design, implementation and progressive rollout of a Shared Services Organization for HR functions with little added value (Start in Q1 2008)
- Design, implementation and follow-up of the KPIs for the main functions and processes (End of design: 1 September 2007, go-live: Q1 2008).

The next major milestones in **IT** are:

• The Company-wide process model and a supporting IT architecture will be established in 2008.
6.7 PURCHASING

6.7.1 Purchasing initiative objectives

Within the objectives of the Transformation Plan, the aim of the Purchasing Initiative is to:

Accelerate organic growth through:

- Early involvement of Purchasing in the pre-sales process in order to optimize the competitiveness of offers
- Implementation of a monitoring system to track & log savings in P&L

Increase operational efficiency by:

- Margin improvement thanks to purchasing savings
- Alignment of the information structures across countries
- Ensuring that all purchases are covered by purchasing departments
- Involving Purchasing in budget process

Improve ability to operate as a global company by:

 Earlier and stronger involvement of purchasing in strategic decisions and in the specification process

6.7.2 Purchasing initiative achievements

During H1, this initiative has delivered the following achievements:

- The company has implemented a more efficient organization characterized by:
 - Centralized purchasing teams under one management, facilitating group leverage and harmonized practices.
 - Full aggregation of company-wide purchasing power.
 - Effective information sharing and Category Management at group and local levels.
 - Improved efficiency with 100% control of external spend by purchasing organization (early and proactive involvement of purchasing, systematic validation and approval of Service Lines requests, all orders logged in procurement systems).
- Furthermore, the Company has decided to introduce new purchasing methods (e.g.: reverse auctions) and launched projects on five priority categories which represent approximately 20% of the total spend:
 - o PCs and Servers
 - o Subcontractors
 - o Storage
 - Midrange Maintenance
 - o Telecommunication Voice
- Other immediate actions have been identified either linked to global categories or to local country initiatives.
- The overall savings target for all these measures is EUR 59 million. Preliminary assessment
 has suggested a potential of more than EUR 10 million additional savings on the priority
 categories already in 2007. In order to achieve these savings, detailed action plans have been
 developed and agreed.

On the categories below, the following progress has been made:

• Subcontractors:

Netherlands: Request for Proposal launched in May, negotiations ongoing

United Kingdom: Price negotiation with main supplier in June resulted in 11% price reduction France: Request for Proposal launched

Telecommunications:

Request for Quote launched group-wide for fixed and mobile phones

- Midrange maintenance:
 Request for Proposal launched
- PCs and Servers: Request for Information launched, e-RFP and e-auctions in July

6.7.3 Purchasing initiative next milestones

The next major milestones for the Purchasing Initiative are:

- Recruitment of a new Corporate Purchasing Officer to join in H2 2007
- **Subcontractors:** Netherlands, France: finalize negotiations following the launch of a Request for Proposal.
- Telecommunications: Finalize negotiations for fixed and mobile following launch of RFP
- Finalize roadmap for VoIP, effect of rollout expected in 2008.
- PCs and Servers: Finalize negotiations following e-auction.

7 HUMAN RESOURCES REVIEW

	30 June 2007	30 June 2006
Headcount opening	49,841	47,684
Change in scope	(201)	(436)
Hiring (*)	5,171	4,617
Leavers (*)	(3,990)	(3,731)
Restructuring	(511)	(373)
Headcount at closing	50,310	47,761

7.1 CHANGE IN THE GROUP WORKFORCE

(*) Permanent staff only, excluding temporary staff movements

Changes in scope related to business disposals in the period, including disposals of Actis in Germany (-158 people), Chile (-81 people) and Marben Product in France (-34 people) and acquisitions of Unimédecine (+73 people) for Atos Worldline.

The level of recruitment has been sustained during the first half of the year with 5 171 which is higher than last year at the same period by +12% confirming the capacity of the Group to recruit people.

Leavers comprise voluntary permanent staff leavers, permanent staff who have been dismissed and those who have retired. The number of leavers in H1 2007 was 3 990, 6% only higher than last year. Staff attrition rose in line with the business growth trend and increased to 14.8%, compared with 12.7% in 2006, which confirms some tension on the European labour market.

A total of 511 employees left the business in H1 2007 under specific and localised re-organisation programs as part of the business transformation. These staff who left the Company were located in the United Kingdom, Italy and France.

Employees	30 June 2007	31 Dec. 2006	Change	Average 1 st half 2007	Average 1st half 2006	Change
Consulting	2,625	2,698	-2.7%	2,638	2,740	-3.7%
Systems Integration	24,514	24,836	-1.3%	24,506	23,988	+2.2%
Managed Operations	22,936	22,132	+3.6%	22,732	20,724	+9.7%
Corporate	235	181	+29.8%	199	190	+4.7%
Total	50,310	49,847	+0.9%	50,075	47,642	+5.1%
France	14,973	14,887	+0.6%	14,959	14,158	+5.7%
United Kingdom	6,304	6,322	-0.3%	6,282	6,689	-6.1%
The Netherlands	8,420	8,248	+2.1%	8,380	8,314	+0.8%
Germany + Central Europe	3,752	3,882	-3.3%	3,772	3,841	-1.8%
Other EMEA	10,494	10,443	+0.5%	10,511	9,286	+13.2%
Americas	2,618	2,774	-5.6%	2,637	2,494	+5.7%
Asia-Pacific	3,565	3,110	+14.6%	3,334	2,671	+24.8%
Corporate	184	181	+1.7%	199	190	+4.7%
Total	50,310	49,847	+0.9%	50,075	47,642	+5.1%

7.2 STAFF MOVEMENTS BY SERVICE LINE AND COUNTRY

The average full-time equivalent internal and external productive staff grew from 44,233 in H1 2006 to 46,797 in H1 2007 representing an increase of +5.8% to be compared with a revenue increase of +7.2% and even an IT services growth of +10.1%. The highest area of staff growth both on staff movements and average staff is Asia Pacific and reflects the strategy of the Group to increase the offshore staff in countries such as India and Malaysia

In the meantime, the average full-time equivalent indirect staff increased from 5,540 to 5,758. This represents an increase of +4% to be compared again with a revenue growth of +7.2%. This increase includes Banksys effect of 322 staff. Excluding Banksys the indirect FTEs decreased by 104 representing -1.8% while the revenue organic growth was +2.7%. This highlights the efforts engaged in 2007 to contain the evolution of indirect staff while not benefiting yet from the implementation the support function shared service center.



7.3 STAFF BY REGION AT 30 JUNE 2007

7.4 EMPLOYEE AND MANAGEMENT SHAREHOLDING

In 2006, Management Board proposed to the Supervisory Board to change the employees and management shareholding structure by implementing a balanced employee stock purchase plan and management incentive and investment plans.

This was presented and approved to the 2006 Annual General Shareholder meeting on 23 May 2006 and progressively implemented thereafter.

In the third quarter of 2006, the Group launched the international stock employee purchase plan opened to 40 000 employees in 10 countries.

2% of common stocks were subscribed in late December 2006. Through a reserved increase of capital with 20% discount and leveraged scheme, 3,900 employees participated to this plan. It will be renewed in 2007 with a 1% capital increase.

In March 2007, the Supervisory Board approved the launch of the Long Term Incentive plan (LTI) and Management Investment Plan (MIP) reserved to the top 400 managers of the Group.

The LTI is a free share scheme which can represent between 25% and 50% of the annual variable salary at nominal value. The scheme is performance related as the vesting of the free shares is conditioned to presence in the Group during two years as well as Group financial performance reached. The financial indicator is the cumulated two years (fiscal years 2007 and 2008) operating cash flow before restructuring, less capital expenditure. Due to the occurrence of a specific process

with potential investors from March to May 2007, the implementation has been suspended until the end of the process which happened on 14 May 2007.

The scheme was then implemented and has resulted to the grant of 168,658 performance free shares at a market value of EUR 43.98 to 372 managers.

The LTI scheme is not dilutive to the shareholders as Atos Origin bought 214,500 shares on the market in May 2007 to match the engagement.

The MIP is a retention plan reserved as well to the top 400 managers and is Atos Origin stock investment conditional. The top 400 managers were invited in June 2007 to buy Atos Origin shares and in counterpart to be granted of one free share for one bought share. The vesting over two years is conditioned to presence in the Group and not selling the personal investment in Atos Origin shares during that period.

At the end of the subscription period, 168 managers invested in 217,110 Atos Origin shares and were granted equivalent 218,185 conditional free shares valued at a market value of EUR 45.64.

This plan as well is not dilutive for the shareholders as the Group bought 225,500 shares on the market during June 2007 to match the engagement. After the vesting period of two years, these free shares of the LTI and the MIP are subject to a two years lock-up.

These two new schemes replace the annual stock option plan with an equivalent income statement value but benefit to the shareholders as it is not dilutive whereas annual stock options plans were dilutive by 1.75% of common stock.

8 FINANCIAL REVIEW

8.1 INCOME STATEMENT

The Group reported a net income (Group share) of EUR 57.3 million for the first six months of 2007, which represents 2.0% of Group revenues in the period.

(in EUR million)	6 months ended 30 June 2007	% margin	6 months ended 30 June 2006 (a)	% margin
Operating margin	117.7	4.1%	133.0	4.9%
Other operating income / expenses	(10.0)	-0.3%	(74.5)	2.8%
Operating income	107.7	3.7%	58.5	2.2%
Net financial expense	(7.3)		(5.4)	
Tax charge	(37.6)		(35.0)	
Minority interests and associates	(5.5)		(7.7)	
Net income – Group share	57.3	2.0%	10.4	0.4%
Normalised net income Group share (*)	68.4	2.4%	86.1	3.2%

(*) Defined hereafter

(a) June 2006 has been restated to be in line with December 2006 and June 2007 Equity-based compensation classification in personnel expenses compared to classification in other operating income and expenses in June 2006.

8.1.1 Operating margin

Operating margin represents the underlying operational performance of the on-going business and 4.1% of total revenues of the period.

8.1.2 Operating income

The main components of other operating income/expenses are reorganisation and rationalisation charges of EUR 29 million mainly in Italy and in the United Kingdom, and a net gain on disposal of assets of EUR 22 million, mainly related to the disposal of the Actis business in Germany.

As a result, the operating income for the first six months 2007 reached EUR 107.7 million, and represents 3.7% of total revenues of the period.

8.1.3 Net financial expense

Net financial expense amounted to EUR (7) million for the period, including a net cost of financial debt and non-operational financial costs.

The net cost of financial debt was EUR (13) million, based on an average net debt of EUR 479 million during the period. The average cost of borrowing was 5.23% in the period before interests swaps (5.55% including them). The net cost of financial debt was covered 9 times by operating margin, compared with a requirement for not less than 4 times cover under the terms of the new facility.

Non-operational financial costs were EUR 5 million credit mainly relating to better terms on return on pensions plan assets.

8.1.4 Tax charge

The tax charge has been calculated by applying the full year expected effective tax rate, as per IAS 34 - Interim Financial reporting requirements.

The Group effective tax rate is 37.5%. This high tax rate is impacted by Italy where the taxation is based on value added while the Italian operations provided an operating loss and restructuring costs. Excluding these effects, the effective tax rate is below 30%. On a long term basis, the expected effective tax rate is 32.5% on the current scope of the Group.

8.1.5 Minority interests

Minority interests included shareholdings held by joint venture partners and other associates of the Group in the operations of Atos Euronext Market Solutions (50%) and Atos Worldline Processing Services in Germany (42%).

8.1.6 Normalised net income

The Group share of net income before unusual, abnormal and infrequent items (net of tax) was EUR 68.4 million, 2.4% of total revenues.

(in EUR million)	6 months ended 30 June 2007	6 months ended 30 June 2006
Net income Group share	57.3	10.4
Restructuring and rationalisation	(29.4)	(7.8)
Net charge/release of provision	(2.2)	(5.6)
Capital gain (loss)	21.6	(1.0)
Other operating income (expenses) basis	(10.0)	(14.5)
Sum of unusual items net of tax	(6.2)	(10.0)
Impairment losses on long-term assets		(60.0)
Stock options (not deductible)	(4.9)	(5.7)
Sum of other unusual items not taxable	(4.9)	(65.7)
Normalised net income Group share	68.4	86.1

8.2 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(in EUR million)	6 months ended 30 June 2007	% margin	6 months ended 30 June 2006	% margin
Net income – Group share	57.3	2.0%	10.4	0.4%
Normalised net income – Group share	68.4	2.4%	86.1	3.2%
Weighted average number of shares	68,898,338		67,424,238	
Diluted weighted average number of shares (*)	69,136,128		68,022,727	
Basic EPS	0.83		0.15	
Diluted EPS	0.83		0.15	
Normalised basic EPS	0.99		1.28	
Normalised diluted EPS	0.99		1.27	

(*) With dilution impact only

Based on a weighted average of 68,898,338 shares in issue during the first half of 2007, earnings per share (Group share) were EUR 0.83, and on a diluted weighted average basis of 69,136,128 shares in the period, earnings per share (Group share) were EUR 0.83.

Based on the normalised net income of EUR 68.4 million, the earnings per share (Group share) were EUR 0.99.

8.3 CASH FLOW AND NET DEBT

The Group began the year with an opening net debt of EUR 360 million. The cash flow from operating activities reached EUR 144.8 million, or 5.0% of total revenues, including EUR 53.1 million of staff reorganisation and data centre rationalisation expenses.

This performance was temporarily impacted by an increase in working capital of EUR 103.3 million in the period due to seasonal effects, as last year at the same period. Nevertheless, the seasonality impact has been twice lower than last year due to stronger cash management and change of bonus

structure to include quarterly targets on net debt. The working capital position should improve sharply in the second half of the year, by the combination of a reduction in working capital as last year in H2 and higher cash flow from operations linked to a higher operating margin in H2.

(in EUR million)	6 months ended 30 June 2007	6 months ended 30 June 2006
Cash from operating activities	144.8	188.9
Income tax paid	(17.1)	(9.1)
Change in working capital	(103.3)	(197.2)
Net cash from operating activities	24.4	(17.4)
Capital expenditure	(169.1)	(95.5)
Disposal of intangible and tangible assets	1.3	1.2
Net cash from current operations	(143.4)	(111.7)
Other changes	(27.8)	(25.2)
Net cash before financial investments	(171.2)	(136.9)
Financial investments	2.9	(15.4)
Disposal of financial assets	20.0	6.9
Net financial investments	22.9	(8.5)
Net cash flow	(148.3)	(145.5)
Opening net debt	(360.3)	(180.5)
Closing net debt	(508.6)	(325.9)

8.3.1 Change in working capital

The negative change in working capital of EUR 103.3 million over the period is the result of both the negative seasonality factors, including annual bonus payments, and an increase in DSO ratio from 68 days in December 2006 to 74 days end of June 2007.

8.3.2 Operating investments

Capital expenditure amounted to EUR 169 million over the period, representing 5.8% of Group revenues, which is as anticipated higher than previous periods, due to strong investment for more than EUR 50 million related to new contracts signed at the end of last year in the Managed Operations activity, an amount of EUR 20 million for data centers consolidation, EUR 10 million coming from Banksys and the continuous efforts to replace capital expenditure financing from operating lease to own cash flow. This policy has been implemented in 2005, to get a better control of the life cycle of our industrial assets. As a result, the off-balance sheet commitments for operating leases on IT equipment have been reduced from EUR 97.2 million at the end of 2006 to EUR 76.3 million at the end of June 2007.

8.3.3 Other changes

Other changes include mainly purchases of treasury stock (EUR 21 million) linked to the pre-financing of the Management Investment and Long-Term Incentive Plans, and financial interests paid EUR (7 million).

8.3.4 Net financial investments

Net financial investments concern mainly a EUR 6.6 million positive price adjustment on Banksys acquisition, the acquisition of the Uni-Medecine Group (EUR 2.4 million) and remaining amount for new deposits. Disposal of financial assets concerns mainly the sale of the Actis business in Germany.

8.3.5 Bank covenants

The Group is substantially within its borrowing covenants, with a consolidated leverage ratio (net debt divided by OMDA) of 1.3 at the end of June 2007. The consolidated leverage ratio may not be greater than 2.5 times under the new multi-currency revolving facility.

(in EUR million)	6 months ended 30 June 2007	6 months ended 30 June 2006	Covenants 2007
Operating margin	117.7	133.0	
Depreciation of fixed assets	101.5	87.8	
Operating net charge/(release) to provisions for current assets	5.1	(0.5)	
Operating net charge/(release) to provisions for losses and contingencies	(9.6)	(6.9)	
Net charge/(release) of provisions for staff expenses	(11.5)		
Net charge/(release) of provisions for pensions	(8.7)	2.6	
Net book value of assets sold	1.5		
Equity-based compensation	4.9	5.7	
OMDA	200.9	221.7	
Closing net debt	508.6	325.9	
Leverage ratio (Net debt divided by OMDA)	1.27	0.74	< 2.5

The consolidated Interest cover ratio (operating margin divided by the net cost of financial debt) was 9 times in the first half. It may not be less than 4 times throughout the term of the new multi-currency revolving facility.

(in EUR million)	6 months ended 30 June 2007	6 months ended 30 June 2006	Covenants 2007
Operating margin	117.7	133.0	
Net cost of financial debt	(12.5)	(11.1)	
Coverage of Net cost of financial debt by Operating margin	9	12	> 4.0

8.4 MOTHER COMPANY RESULTS

The result before tax of the mother company amounts to EUR (25) million for the first semester 2007, compared with EUR 173 million for the first semester 2006.

9 HALF-YEAR FINANCIAL REPORT

9.1 Statutory auditors' report on the half-year condensed consolidated financial statements for the period ended 30 June 200

9.2 Half-year condensed consolidated financial statements

- 9.2.1 Consolidated income statement
- 9.2.2 Consolidated balance sheet
- 9.2.3 Consolidated cash flow statement
- 9.2.4 Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders' equity
- 9.2.5 Notes to the half-year condensed consolidated financial statements for the period ended 30 June 2007
 - General information
 - Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies
 - Financial risk management
 - Notes to the half-year condensed consolidated financial statements

9.1 STATUTORY AUDITORS' REVIEW REPORT ON HALF-YEAR CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE PERIOD ENDED **30** JUNE **2007**.

To the Shareholders,

In our capacity of statutory auditors and in accordance with the requirements of article L 232-7 of the French Commercial Law (the Code de Commerce), we hereby report to you on:

- the review of the accompanying condensed half-year consolidated financial statements of Atos Origin, for the period January 1 to June 30, 2007,
- the verification of information contained in the half-year management report.

These condensed half-year consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Board of Directors. Our role is to express a conclusion on these financial statements based on our review.

We conducted our review in accordance with professional standards applicable in France. A review of interim financial information consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with professional standards applicable in France and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the accompanying condensed half-year consolidated financial statements are not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with IAS 34- standard of the IFRSs as adopted by the European Union applicable to Interim financial information.

Without qualifying the conclusion expressed above, we draw attention to note 20 which sets out the subsequent events, in which Atos Origin describes the uncertainty with respect to the unilateral termination of a contract in UK that occurred subsequently to June 30, 2007.

In accordance with professional standards applicable in France, we have also verified the information given in the interim half-year financial report commenting the condensed half-year consolidated financial statements subject to our review.

We have no matters to report as to its fair presentation and consistency with the condensed half-year consolidated financial statements.

Paris and Neuilly-sur-Seine, August 28, 2007 The statutory auditors

Grant Thornton	Deloitte & Associés
Membre français de Grant Thornton International	
Daniel Kurdjian	Jean-Paul Picard
Vincent Papazian	Jean-Marc Lumet

9.2 HALF-YEAR CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9.2.1 Consolidated income statement

(in EUR million)	Notes	6 months ended 30 June 2007	6 months ended 30 June 2006 (a)	12 months ended 31 December 2006
Revenue		2,890.0	2,695.8	5,396.9
Personnel expenses	Note 3	(1,601.1)	(1,516.1)	(2,995.9)
Operating expenses	Note 4	(1,171.2)	(1,046.7)	(2,154.3)
Operating margin		117.7	133.0	246.7
% of revenue		4.1%	4.9%	4.6%
Other operating income and expenses	Note 5	(10.0)	(74.5)	(406.7)
Operating income		107.7	58.5	(160.0)
% of revenue		3.7%	2.2%	-3%
Net cost of financial debt		(12.5)	(11.1)	(22.7)
Other financial income and expenses		5.2	5.7	11.5
Net financial income	Note 6	(7.3)	(5.4)	(11.2)
Tax charge	Note 7	(37.6)	(35.0)	(76.6)
Share of net income from associates		(0.0)	(0.1)	0.1
Net income		62.8	18.0	(247.7)
Of which:				
- Group share		57.3	10.4	(264.4)
- Minority interests	Note 8	5.5	7.6	16.7
(in EUR and number of shares)				
Net income - Group share per share	Note 9			
Weighted average number of shares		68,898,338	67,424,238	67,614,323
Basic earnings per share		0.83	0.15	(3.91)
Diluted weighted average number of shares		69,136,128	68,022,727	67,614,323
Diluted earnings per share		0.83	0.15	(3.91)

(a) June 2006 has been restated to be in line with December 2006 and June 2007 Equity-based compensation classification in personnel expenses compared to classification in other operating income and expenses in June 2006.

9.2.2 Consolidated balance sheet

(in EUR million) ASSETS	Notes	30 June 2007	31 December 2006
Goodwill	Note 10	2,042.3	2,045.6
Intangible assets		121.6	118.3
Tangible assets		442.1	382.4
Non-current financial assets		52.1	45.0
Non-current financial instruments	Note 16	0.6	-
Deferred tax assets		266.7	258.0
Total non-current assets		2,925.4	2,849.3
Trade accounts and notes receivable	Note 11	1,753.1	1,599.9
Current taxes		35.0	46.7
Other current assets		273.0	226.3
Current financial instruments	Note 16	1.1	1.2
Cash and cash equivalents	Note 12	184.3	453.9
Total current assets		2,246.5	2,328
TOTAL ASSETS		5,171.9	5,177.3

(in EUR million) LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUIT	ſY	30 June 2007	31 December 2006
Common stock		69.0	68.9
Additional paid-in capital		1,306.8	1,304.2
Consolidated reserves		264.9	536.6
Translation adjustments		27.1	29.6
Net income for the period		57.3	(264.4)
Shareholders' equity – Group share		1,725.1	1,674.9
Minority interests		169.1	165.5
Total shareholders' equity		1,894.2	1,840.4
Provisions for pensions and similar benefits	Note 13	446.2	458.6
Non-current provisions	Note 14	117.8	131.9
Borrowings	Note 15	463.7	589.2
Deferred tax liabilities		53.0	54.9
Non-current financial instruments	Note 16	-	1.2
Other non-current liabilities		1.1	0.5
Total non-current liabilities		1,081.8	1,236.3
Trade accounts and notes payable	Note 17	669.3	609.1
Current taxes		86.9	69.6
Current provisions	Note 14	103.4	132.1
Current financial instruments	Note 16	1.9	1.9
Current portion of borrowings	Note 15	229.2	225.0
Other current liabilities	Note 18	1,105.2	1,062.9
Total current liabilities		2,195.9	2,100.6
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY		5,171.9	5,177.3

9.2.3 Consolidated cash flow statement

(in EUR million)	Notes (*)	6 months ended 30 June 2007	6 months ended 30 June 2006	12 months ended 31 December 2006
Net income Group share		57.3	10.4	(264.4)
Depreciation of fixed assets		101.5	87.8	176.3
Net charge to operating provisions		(24.7)	(4.8)	(2.0)
Net charge to financial provisions		(8.1)	(6.8)	(20.6)
Net charge to other operating provisions		(13.9)	44.3	(25.1)
Impairment of long-term assets		-	-	377.6
(Gains) / losses on disposals of fixed assets		(23.0)	0.9	(11.7)
Net charge for equity-based compensation		4.9	5.7	23.2
Minority interests and associates		5.5	7.7	16.7
Financial instruments		0.3	(4.7)	1.2
Financial interests		7.3	13.5	22.7
Tax charge (including deferred tax)		37.7	35.0	76.6
Cash from operating activities before change in working capita requirement, financial interests and taxes	l a	144.8	188.9	370.5
Taxes paid	b	(17.1)	(9.1)	(39.3)
Change in working capital requirement	С	(103.3)	(197.2)	(42.5)
Net cash from / (used in) operating activities		24.4	(17.4)	288.7
			()	()
Purchase of tangible and intangible assets	d	(169.1)	(95.5)	· /
Proceeds from disposals of tangible and intangible assets	е	1.3	1.2	
Net operating Investments		(167.8)	(94.3)	
Amounts paid for acquisitions and long-term investments	f	2.7	(15.4)	(345.2)
Cash and cash equivalents of companies purchased during the period	g	0.2		52.7
Proceeds from disposals of financial investments	h	25.2	6.9	
Cash and cash equivalents of companies sold during the period	i	(5.3)	()	(2.7)
Net long-term investments		22.8	(8.5)	
Net cash from / (used in) investing activities		(145.0)	(102.8)	(455.4)
Common stock issues	j	-		
Common stock issues on the exercise of equity-based compensation	¹ k	2.1	6.5	52.9
Purchase and sale of treasury stock	I	(20.6)	(12.6)	
Dividends paid to minority shareholders of subsidiaries	m	(2.1)	(2.0)	
New borrowings**	n	31.2	27.3	
Repayment of long and medium-term borrowings**	0	(152.3)	(139.2)	
Net interest paid (including finance leases)	р	(7.3)	(12.0)	
Net cash from / (used in) financing activities		(149.0)	(131.9)	97.8
houses ((decrease) in each and each annivelants		(200.0)	(050.4)	(00.0)
Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	q	(269.6)	(252.1)	(68.9)
Opening cash and cash equivalents		453.9	533.5	533.5
Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	q	(269.6)	(252.1)	(68.9)
Impact of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents		-	(10.5)	
Closing cash and cash equivalents		184.3	270.9	453.9

(*) For reconciliation to the change in net debt over the period and the cash flow by activity over the period presented in the notes.

(**) In 2006, flows related to securitization were netting to be consistent with the classification done in 2007

9.2.4 Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders' e	equity
--	--------

(in EUR million)	Number of shares at period-end (thousands)	Common Stock	Additional paid-in capital	Consolidated reserves	Translation adjustments	Items recognized directly in equity	Net income Group share	Equity – Group share	Minority interests	TOTAL
At 31/12/05	67,363	67.4	1,252.8	293.5	28.3	(3.8)	235.4	1,873.4	153.2	2,026.5
* Common stock issued	176	0.2	6.2					6.4		6.4
* Translation					(19.8)			(19.8)	(0.7)	(20.5)
adjustments * Appropriation of prior period				235.4	() 		(235.4)	0.0	(),	0.0
net income * Stock options				5.7				5.7		5.7
* First time				5.7				5.7		5.7
adoption of IAS 32/39						(12.6)		(12.6)		(12.6)
* Changes in fair value of financial instruments						2.5		2.5		2.5
* Net income for							10.4	10.4	7.6	18.0
the period * Other				(0.2)				(0.2)	(2.0)	(2.2)
At 30/06/06	67,539	67.6	1,259.0	534.4	8.5	(13.9)	10.4	1,865.8	158.1	2,023.9
* Common stock	1,342	1.3	45.2					46.5		46.5
issued * Translation adjustments					21,1			21.1	1.6	22.7
* Appropriation of prior period net income				(212.2)				23.2		23.2
* Stock options				(20.3)				(20.3)		(20.3)
* First time adoption of IAS 32/39				235.4		12.6		12.6		12.6
* Changes in fair value of financial instruments						(0.2)		(0.2)		(0.2)
* Net income for the period							(274.8)	(274.8)	9.1	(265.7)
* Other				1.0				1.0	(3.3)	(2.2)
At 31/12/06	68,881	68.9	1,304.2	538.1	29.6	(1.5)	(264.4)	1,674.9	165.5	1,840.4
* Common stock issued for cash	103	0.1	2.6					2.7		2.7
 Translation adjustments 					(2.5)			(2.5)	(0.2)	(2.7)
* Appropriation of prior period net income				(264.4)			264.4	0.0		0.0
* Stock options				4.9				4.9		4.9
* Changes in treasury stock net of tax				(19.5)		5.9		(13.6)		(13.6)
* Changes in fair value of financial instruments						1.4		1.4		1.4
* Net income for the period							57.3	57.3	5.5	62.8
* Other									(1.7)	(1.7)
At 30/06/07	68,984	69.0	1,306.8	259.1	27.1	5.8	57.3	1,725.1	169.1	1,894.2

9.2.5 Notes to the half-year condensed consolidated financial statements for the period ended 30 June 2007

9.2.5.1 General information

The half-year condensed consolidated financial statements of the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2007 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the "Group") and the Group's interests in associates and jointly controlled entities.

These interim condensed consolidated financial statements were presented by the Management Board to the Supervisory Board on 31 July 2007.

9.2.5.2 Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The interim condensed consolidated financial statements for the six months ended 30 June 2007 have been prepared in accordance with the standard IAS 34 - *Interim Financial Reporting*. As such these financials statements do not include all of the information required for annual financial statements, and should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2006.

The Company follows positions issued by Syntec Informatique, representing major IT groups, for application of the existing International Financial Reporting Standards to specificities of the IT industry.

Changes in accounting policies

The accounting policies applied by the Group in the interim condensed consolidated financial statements are consistent with those applied by the Group in its consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2006.

Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been published that are mandatory for the Group's accounting period beginning on or after January 1st, 2007:

- IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: disclosures
- IAS 1 (revised) Presentation of financial statements
- IFRIC 7 Applying the restatement approach under IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies,
- IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2,
- IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives,
- IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment,

The adoption of those new standards, interpretations and amendments has no material impact on the Group interim consolidated financial statements.

The interim consolidated financial statements do not take into account:

- New standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards not yet approved by the European Union. This notably concerns:
 - o IFRS 8 Operating Segments
 - IAS 23 (revised) Borrowing Costs
 - IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements.
 - IFRIC 13 Customers loyalty programmes
- Draft standards that are still at the exposure draft stage of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
- Standards published by the IASB, adopted at the European level, but with an application date subsequent to June 30, 2007. This notably concerns:
 - o IFRIC 11 Group and Treasury Share Transactions.

At the date of this report the potential impact on the consolidated financial statements of application of this standard is not available.

Accounting estimates and judgments

In line with IAS 34, the preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expense in the financial statements and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. The estimates, assumptions and judgments that may result in a significant adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial statements are essentially related to:

Impairment tests

The Group tests at least annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated below. The recoverable amounts of cash generating units are determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates.

Revenue recognition and associated costs on long-term contracts

Revenue recognition and associated costs, including forecast losses on completion are measured according to policy stated below. Total projected contract costs are based on various operational assumptions such as forecast volume or variance in the delivery costs and have a direct influence on the level of revenue and eventual forecast losses on completion that are recognised.

Consolidation methods

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control is defined by the ability to govern the financial and operating policies generally, but not systematically, combined with a shareholding of more than 50% of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible, the power to appoint the majority of the members of the governing bodies and the existence of veto rights are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date on which control ceases.

Joint ventures

The Group's interests in jointly controlled entities are accounted for by proportionate method. Operating and shareholders' agreements are considered when assessing the joint control.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control, generally, but not systematically, accompanying a shareholding of between 20 and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for by the equity method.

Segment reporting

The Group's operational organisation is based on regions composed of geographical areas. The primary reporting segment corresponds to these geographical areas and the secondary reporting segment to the service lines.

Presentation rules

Current and non-current assets and liabilities

Assets and liabilities classified as current are expected to be realised, used or settled during the normal cycle of operations, which can extend beyond 12 months following the period-end. All other assets and liabilities are classified as non-current. Current assets and liabilities, excluding the current portion of borrowings, financial receivables and provisions represent the Group's working capital requirement.

Assets and liabilities held for sale or discontinued operations

Assets and liabilities held for sale or discontinued operations are presented on a separate line in the balance sheet. They are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Non-current assets and liabilities are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the assets and liabilities are available for immediate sale in their present condition.

Should these assets and liabilities represent either a complete business line or a geographical segment, the profit or loss from these activities will be presented on a separate line of the income statement.

Translation of financial statements denominated in foreign currencies

The balance sheets of companies based outside the euro zone are translated at closing exchange rates. Income statement items are translated based on average exchange rate for the period. Balance sheet and income statement translation adjustments arising from a change in exchange rates are recognised as a separate component of equity under "Translation adjustments".

The Group does not consolidate any entity operating in a hyperinflationary economy.

Translation of transactions denominated in foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement under the heading "Other financial income and expenses", except where hedging accounting is applied as explained in the paragraph "Financial assets – Derivative financial instruments "

Business combination and goodwill

A business combination may involve the purchase of another entity, the purchase of all the net assets of another entity or the purchase of some of the net assets of another entity that together form one or more businesses.

Major services contracts involving staff and asset transfers that enable the Group to develop or improve significantly its competitive position within a business or a geographical sector are considered for business combination accounting. Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business combination, including expenses directly attributable to the business combination, in accordance with IFRS3, over the Group's interest in the fair value of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is not amortised and is subject to an impairment test performed at least annually or more often in case of a trigger event. Goodwill is allocated to Cash Generating Units (CGU) for the purpose of impairment testing. A CGU is defined as the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or group of assets. CGUs correspond to geographical areas where the Group has operations. The recoverable value of a CGU is based on the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use determined using the discounted cash-flows method. When this value is less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the operating income. The impairment loss is first recorded as an adjustment of the carrying amount of the goodwill allocated to the CGU and the remainder of the loss, if any, is allocated to the other long term assets of the unit.

Intangible assets other than goodwill

Intangible assets other than goodwill consist primarily of software and user rights acquired directly by the Group, software and customer relationships acquired in relation with a business combination as well as internally developed software, provided that the following conditions are satisfied:

- the costs can be attributed to the identified software and measured reliably,
- the technical feasibility of the software has been demonstrated,
- the Group has the intention and the capability to complete the software development and to use or sell it; and
- it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group.

Once all these criteria are reached, the majority of software development costs have been already incurred and consequently, most of software developments costs are expensed when incurred. In specific Business Process Outsourcing (BPO) cases where developments and adapting software costs are engaged only once agreements with clients are signed, those costs are capitalised and amortised in operating expenses over the term of the contract.

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their expected useful life, generally not exceeding five to seven years for software and ten years for customer relationships acquired in a business combination; their related depreciation are recorded in operating expenses.

Tangible assets

Tangible assets are recorded at acquisition cost, excluding any interest expenses. They are depreciated on a straight-line or reducing-balance basis over the following expected useful lives:

Buildings20 yearsFixtures and fittings5 to 10 yearsComputer hardware3 to 5 yearsVehicles4 yearsOffice furniture and equipment5 to 10 years

Leases

Asset leases where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease's inception at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Assets acquired under finance lease are depreciated over the shorter of the assets' useful life and the lease term.

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases.

Impairment of assets other than goodwill

Assets that are subject to amortisation are tested for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying value exceeds its recoverable value.

Financial assets

Financial assets are accounted for at trade date.

Investments in non-consolidated companies

The Group holds shares in companies without exercising significant influence or control. Investments in non-consolidated companies are treated as assets available for sale and recognised at their fair value. For listed shares, fair value corresponds to the share price at closing date. In the absence of an active market for the shares, the investments in non-consolidated companies are carried at historical cost. An impairment cost is recognised when there is objective evidence of a permanent impairment in value. The most common financial criteria used to determine fair value are equity and earnings outlooks. Gains and losses arising from variation in the fair value of available for sale assets are recognised as "items recognised directly in equity". If there is evidence that an asset is permanently impaired, the cumulative loss is written off in the income statement under "other financial income and expense".

Loans, trade accounts and notes receivable

Loans are part of non-current financial assets. Loans, trade accounts and notes receivable are recorded initially at their fair value and subsequently at their amortised value. The nominal value represents usually the initial fair value for trade accounts and notes receivable. In case of deferred payment over one year,

where the effect is significant on fair value, trade accounts and notes receivables are discounted. Where appropriate, a provision is raised on an individual basis to take likely recovery problems into account.

Effective from 1 January 2006, certain service arrangements might qualify for treatment as lease contracts if they convey a right to use an asset in return for payments included in the overall contract remuneration. If service arrangements contain a lease, the Group is considered to be the lessor regarding its customers. Where the lease transfers the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to its customers, the Group recognises assets held under finance lease and presents them as "Trade accounts and notes receivable" for the part that will be settled within 12 months, and "Non-current financial assets" for the part beyond 12 months.

Assets securitisation

Assets securitisation programmes, in which the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the transferred assets, do not qualify for de-recognition. A financial liability for the consideration received is recognised. The transferred assets and the financial liability are valued at their amortised costs.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative instruments are recognised as financial assets or liabilities at their fair value. Any change in the fair value of these derivatives is recorded in the income statement as a financial income or expense, except when they are eligible for hedge accounting, whereupon:

- for fair value hedging of existing assets or liabilities, the hedged portion of an instrument is measured on the balance sheet at its fair value. Any change in fair value is recorded as a corresponding entry in the income statement, where it is offset simultaneously against changes in the fair value of hedging instruments.
- for cash flow hedging, the effective portion of the change in fair value of the hedging instrument is directly offset in shareholders' equity as "items recognized directly in the equity". The change in value of the ineffective portion is recognised in "Other financial income and expenses". The amounts recorded in net equity are transferred to the income statement simultaneously to the recognition of the hedged items.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and money market securities that are convertible into cash at very short notice and are not exposed to any significant risk of impairment. Money market securities are recognised at their fair value. Changes in fair value are recorded in the income statement under "Other financial income and expenses".

Treasury stock

Atos Origin shares held by the parent company are recorded at their acquired cost as a deduction from consolidated shareholders' equity. In the event of a disposal, the gain or loss and the related tax impacts are recorded as a change in consolidated shareholders' equity.

Pensions and similar benefits

Employee benefits are granted by the Group through defined contribution and defined benefit plans. Defined contribution costs are recognised in the income statement based on contributions paid or due in respect of the accounting period when the related services have been accomplished by beneficiaries.

The valuation of Group commitments in respect of defined benefit plans is based on a single actuarial method known as the "projected unit credit method". This method relies in particular on projections of future benefits to be paid to Group employees, by anticipating the effects of future salary increases. Its

implementation further includes the formulation of specific assumptions, detailed in note 13, which are periodically updated, in close liaison with external actuaries used by the Group.

Plan assets usually held in separate legal entities are measured at their fair value, determined at closing.

From one accounting period to the other, any difference between the projected and actual amounts of commitments in respect of pension plans and their related assets is cumulated at each benefit plan's level to form actuarial differences. These actuarial differences may result either from changes in actuarial assumptions used, or from experience adjustments generated by actual developments differing, in the accounting period, from assumptions determined at the end of the previous accounting period.

Group final option in terms of recognition method for actuarial differences has not been elected yet, since a new option has been introduced under IAS 19 to recognise these actuarial differences through equity. By application of the "corridor" method, the Group therefore continues to recognise in its profit and loss account only the portion of cumulated actuarial differences which is above a normative fluctuation margin of 10% of the greater, at closing, of plan commitments and their related assets. This portion is amortised over the remaining active life of the beneficiaries of each particular benefit plan.

The measurement of pension commitments is highly sensitive to the evolution of long term interest rates on which the discount rate to be used has to be based. To better reflect this significant market evolution, the group has elected to request interim actuarial updates of the measurement of the pension liabilities, and related assets, of its main pension plans when significant rates evolution occur.

Benefit plans costs are recognised in the Group's operating income, except for interest costs on obligations, net of expected returns on plans assets, which are recognised in other financial income.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when:

- the Group has a present legal, regulatory, contractual or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
- it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably quantified.

Provisions are discounted when the time value effect is material. The provision revaluation at each accounting period results in a provision increase recognised in financial expenses.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of debt issuance costs. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised costs. The calculation of the effective interest rate takes into account interest payments and the amortisation of the debt issuance costs.

Debt issuance costs are amortised in financial expenses over the life of the loan. The residual value of issuance costs for loans repaid in advance is expensed in the year of repayment.

Bank overdrafts are recorded in the current portion of borrowings.

The Group does not capitalise borrowing costs as part of the costs of acquired assets.

Minority interest purchase commitments

Firm or conditional commitments under certain conditions to purchase minority interests are similar to a purchase of shares and are recorded in borrowings with an offsetting reduction of minority interests. When the cost of the purchase exceeds the amount of minority interests, the Group chooses to recognise the balance as goodwill. Any further change in the fair value of the minority purchase commitment will also be recorded in goodwill.

Revenue Recognition

The Group provides information technology (IT) and business process outsourcing (BPO) services. Depending on the structure of the contract, revenue is recognised accordingly to the following principles:

Revenue based on variable IT work units is recognised as the services are rendered.

Where the outcome of fixed price contracts such as Consulting and Systems Integration contracts can be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised using the percentage-of-completion (POC) method. Under the POC method, revenue is recognised based on the costs incurred to date as a percentage of the total estimated costs to fulfil the contract. Revenue relating to these contracts is recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheet under "Trade accounts and notes receivable" for services rendered in excess of billing, while billing exceeding services rendered is recorded as deferred income under "other current liabilities". Where the outcome of a fixed price contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent of contracts costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable.

Revenue for long-term fixed price Managed Operations services is recognised when services are rendered.

If circumstances arise, that change the original estimates of revenues, costs, or extent of progress toward completion, then revisions to the estimates are made. The company performs ongoing profitability analyses of its services contracts in order to determine whether the latest estimates of revenue, costs and profits, require updating. If, at any time, these estimates indicate that the contract will be unprofitable, the entire estimated loss for the remainder of the contract is recorded immediately through a provision for estimated losses on completion.

Revenue is reported net of supplier costs when the Group is acting as an agent between the client and the supplier. Factors generally considered to determine whether the Group is a principal or an agent, are most notably whether it is the primary obligor to the client, it assumes credit and delivery risks, or it adds meaningful value to the supplier's product or service.

The Group enters into multiple-element arrangements, which may include combinations of different services. Revenue is recognised for the separate elements when they have been subject to separate negotiation, the contractor and customer have been able to accept or reject that part of the contract relating to each component, and, each component's costs and revenues can be identified. A group of contracts is combined and treated as a single contract when that group of contracts is negotiated as a single package and the contracts are so closely interrelated that they are, in effect, part of a single project with an overall profit margin, and the contracts are performed concurrently or in a continuous sequence.

Upfront payments to clients incurred at contract inception are recorded in "other current assets" and spread as a reduction of revenue over the term of the contract. Up-front payments received from clients at contract inception are recorded in other current liabilities and spread as an increase in revenue over the term of the contract.

Transition costs

Costs related to delivering Managed Operations services are generally expensed as incurred. However, certain transition costs incurred in the initial phases of outsourcing contracts can be deferred and expensed over the contract term, provided that they will be recovered. Capitalised transition costs are classified in "Trade accounts and notes receivable" of the Consolidated Balance Sheet and amortisation expense is recorded in operating expenses in the Consolidated Income Statements.

In case the contract turns out to be loss-making, capitalised transition costs are impaired for the related forecasted loss, before recognising an additional provision for estimated losses on completion when necessary.

Other operating income and expenses

"Other operating income and expenses" covers income or expense items that are unusual, abnormal or infrequent. They are presented below the operating margin in line with the CNC ("Conseil National de la Comptabilité") recommendation of 27 October 2004.

Classification of restructuring charges in the income statement depends on the nature of the restructuring:

Restructuring costs directly in relation with operations are classified within the Operating Margin;

 Restructuring costs related to business combinations or qualified as unusual, infrequent and abnormal are classified in the Operating Income.

When accounting for business combinations, the Group may record provisions for risks, litigation, etc. in the opening balance sheet for a period of 12 months beyond the business combination date. After the 12-month period, unused provisions arising from changes in circumstances are released through the Income Statement under "Other operating income and expenses".

"Other operating income and expenses" also include major litigations, and non-recurrent capital gains and losses on the disposal of tangible and intangible assets, significant impairment losses on assets other than financial assets, or any other item that is infrequent, unusual and abnormal.

Equity-based compensation

Stocks options are granted to management and certain employees at regular intervals. These equity-based compensation are measured at fair-value at the grant date using the binomial option-pricing model. Changes in the fair value of options after the grant date have no impact on the initial valuation. The fair value of share options is recognised in "Personnel expenses" on a straight-line basis over the period during which those rights vest, using the straight-line method, with the offsetting credit recognised directly in equity.

In some tax jurisdictions, Group's entities receive a tax deduction when stock options are exercised, based on the Group share price at the date of exercise. In those instances, a deferred tax asset is recorded for the difference between the tax base of the employee services received to date (being the future tax deduction allowed by local tax authorities) and the current carrying amount of this deduction, being nil by definition. Deferred tax assets are estimated based on the Group's share price at each closing date, and are recorded in income tax provided that the amount of tax deduction does not exceed the amount of the related cumulative stock option expenses to date. The excess, if any, is recorded directly in the equity.

Employee Share Purchase Plans offer employees the opportunity to invest in Group's shares at a discounted price. Shares are subject to a 5-year lock-up period restriction. Fair values of such plans are measured taking into account:

- the exercise price based on the average opening share prices quoted over the 20 trading days preceding the date of grant,
- the 20% discount granted to employees
- the consideration of the 5-year lock-up restriction to the extent it affects the price that a knowledgeable, willing market participant would pay for that share
- the grant date: date on which the plan and its term and conditions, including the exercise price, is announced to employees.

Fair values of such plans are fully recognised in "Personnel expenses" at the end of the subscription period.

The Group has also granted to management and certain employees bonus shares plans. The fair value of those plans corresponds to the value of the shares at the grant date and takes into account the employee turnover during the vesting period as well as the value of the lock-up period restriction when applicable. Bonus share plans result in the recognition of a payroll expense spread over the rights vesting period.

Corporate income tax

The income tax charge includes current and deferred tax expenses. For the purposes of the interim condensed consolidated financial statements, consolidated income tax expense is determined by applying the estimated effective tax rate for the full year to the "half-year net income before tax". The estimated effective tax rate for the full-year is determined on the basis of forecasted current and deferred tax expense for the year in the light of full-year earnings projections.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are netted off at the taxable entity level, when there is a legal right to offset. Deferred tax assets corresponding to temporary differences and tax losses carried forward are recognised when they are considered to be recoverable during their validity period, based on historical and forecast information.

Deferred tax liabilities for taxable temporary differences relating to goodwill are recognised, to the extent they do not arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net income (Group share) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, after deduction of the weighted average number of treasury shares held by consolidated companies.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net income (Group share), adjusted for the financial cost (net of tax) of dilutive debt instruments, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, plus the average number of shares which, according to the share buyback method, would have been outstanding had all the issued dilutive instruments been converted (stock options and convertible debt).

The dilutive impact of each convertible instrument is determined in order to maximise the dilution of basic earnings per share. The dilutive impact of stock options is assessed based on the average price of Atos Origin shares over the period.

9.2.5.3 Notes to the half-year condensed consolidated financial statements

Note 1 Change of scope of consolidation

Acquisition:

In February 2007, the Group announced the acquisition of Uni-Medecine Group, through its Atos Worldline subsidiary for an amount of EUR 2.4 million. The company was consolidated as of February 1, 2007 and represent EUR 0.6 million of revenue.

Disposals:

In February 2007, the Group has finalised the sale of its software activity B2B to Axway, a subsidiary of Sopra. This activity made EUR 15 million revenue in 2006 with 162 legal staff, and was consolidated until January 31, 2007.

The Group also sold its activities in Chile early February. This activity made EUR 4.9 million revenue in 2006 with 81 legal staff. No trading activity was recognized in 2007.

Note 2 Segment information

Coographic cogmonto

Primary reporting format – geographical segments

The Group is organised on a worldwide basis into seven geographical segments. Geographical segments are made of the following countries:

Countries

Geographic segments	Countries
France	France
 The Netherlands 	The Netherlands
 United Kingdom 	United Kingdom
 Germany and Central Europe 	Germany, Switzerland, Poland, Austria
 Other European countries, Middle-East and 	Belgium, Luxembourg, Italy, Spain, Portugal,
Africa	Andorra, Greece, Turkey, Morocco, South Africa,
	Sweden
 Americas 	United States of America, Mexico, Argentina,
	Brazil, Chile, Peru, Colombia
 Asia-Pacific 	China, Taiwan, Japan, Malaysia, Singapore,
	Thailand, Indonesia, India
Inter-segment transfers or transactions are enter	

Inter-segment transfers or transactions are entered into under the normal commercial terms and conditions that would also be available to unrelated third parties.

The geographical primary segment information for the period ended 30 June 2007 is as follows:

(in EUR million)	France	United KingdomNe	The etherlands	Germany and Central Europe	Other EMEA	Americas	Asia- Pacific	Unallocated (1)	Eliminations	Total Group
Income statement										
External revenue by segment	806.8	528.3	547.5	292.6	523.1	118.1	73.6			2,890.0
%	27.9%	18.3%	18.9%	10.1%	18.1%	4.1%	2.6%			100.0%
Inter-segment revenue	17.4	32.8	15.3	8.3	32.5	5.5	20.6		(132.4)	-
Total revenue	824.2	561.1	562.8	300.9	555.6	123.6	94.2		(132.4)	2,890.0
Operating margin before allocation of corporate costs	30.2	15.2	56.4	21.3	30.1	4.7	6.1	(46.3))	117.7
%	1.0%	0.5%	1.9%	0.7%	1.0%	0.2%	0.2%			4.1%
Allocation of corporate costs	(15.8)	(9.4)	(11.7)	(4.6)	(3.2)	(1.7)	(1.2)	47.6	;	
%	-0.5%	-0.3%	-0.4%	-0.2%	-0.1%	-0.1%	0.0%			
Operating margin after allocation of corporate costs	14.4	5.8	44.6	16.8	26.9	3.0	4.9	1.3	3	117.7
%	0.5%	0.2%	1.5%	0.6%	0.9%	0.1%	0.2%			4.1%
Operating Income before allocation of corporate costs	31.0	18.3	56.6	39.2	7.2	5.5	6.0	(56.1)	I	107.7
%	1.1%	0.7%	2.0%	1.4%	0.3%	0.2%	0.2%			3.7%
Profit before tax										100.4
Income tax expense										(37.6)
Net income										62.8

(1) Central structure costs unallocated by geographical segment

The geographical primary segment information for the period ended 30 June 2006 was as follows:

(in EUR million)	France	United KingdomN	The etherlands	Germany and Central Europe	Other EMEA	Americas	Asia- Pacific	Unallocated (1)	Eliminations	Total Group
Income statement										
External revenue by segment	809.1	541.4	518.6	289.2	374.6	98.3	64.7			2,695.8
%	30.0%	20.1%	19.2%	10.7%	13.9%	3.6%	2.4%			100.0%
Inter-segment revenue	23.2	2 57.8	14.7	7.8	19.6	5.7	15.2		(144.0)	
Total revenue	832.3	3 599.2	533.3	296.9	394.2	2 103.9	79.9		(144.0)	2,695.8
Operating margin before allocation of corporate costs	52.7	27.4	53.6	18.5	13.4	5.0	3.7	(41.3))	133.0
%	6.5%	5.1%	10.3%	6.4%	3.6%	5.1%	5.7%			4.9%
Allocation of corporate costs	(8.6)) (6.5)	(6.7)	(3.3)	(6.5)) (1.4)	4.7	28.2	2	
%	-1.1%	-1.2%	-1.3%	-1.2%	-1.7%	-1.4%	7.3%			
Operating margin after allocation of corporate costs	44.1	20.9	46.9	15.2	6.9) 3.6	8.4	(13.0))	133.0
%	5.4%	3.9%	9.0%	5.2%	1.9%	3.7%	12.9%			4.9%
Operating Income before allocation of corporate costs (*)	42.0) 30.1	54.9	18.2	(52.0)	5.5	3.7	(43.8))	58.5
%	5.2%	5.6%	10.6%	6.3%	-13.9%	5.6%	5.7%			2.2%
Profit before tax										53.0
Income tax expense										(35.0)
Net income										18.0

(1) Central structure costs unallocated by geographical segment(*) Including EUR 60 million impairment charge

Secondary reporting format – Information by service line

(in EUR million)	Consulting	Systems integration	Managed operations	Unallocated (1)	Total Group
External revenue	189.2	1,167.8	1,533.0		2,890.0
Operating margin before allocation of corporate costs	11.5	39.4	104.4	(37.6)	117.7
% margin	6.1%	3.4%	6.8%	-1.3%	4.1%

The secondary segment information for the year ended 30 June 2007 is as follows:

(1) Central structure costs unallocated by service line

The secondary segment information for the period ended 30 June 2006 was as follows:

(in EUR million)	Consulting	Systems integration	Managed operations	Unallocated (1)	Total Group
External revenue	206.4	1,130.6	1,358.8		2,695.8
Operating margin before allocation of corporate costs	25.6	35.9	105.6	(34.1)	133.0
% margin	12.4%	3.2%	7.8%	-1.3%	4.9%

(1) Central structure costs unallocated by service line

Note 3 Personnel expenses

(In EUR million)	6 months ended 30 June 2007	% revenue	6 months ended 30 June 2006 (a)	% revenue	12 months ended 31 December 2006	% revenue
Wages and salaries	(1,229.7)	-42.6%	(1,159.1)	-43.0%	(2,288.5)	-42.4%
Social security charges	(357.5)	-12.4%	(319.5)	-11.8%	(647.8)	-12.0%
Tax, training, profit-sharing	(29.2)	-1.0%	(29.2)	-1.1%	(62.3)	-1,2%
Equity-based compensation	(4.9)	-0.2%	(5.7)	-0.2%	(23.2)	-0.4%
Net charge to provisions for staff expenses	11.5	0.4%			(11.3)	-0.2%
Net charge to provisions for pensions	8.7	0.3%	(2.6)	-0.1%	37.2	0.7%
Total	(1,601.1)	-55.4%	(1,516.1)	-56.0%	(2,995.9)	-55.5%

(a) June 2006 has been restated to be in line with December 2006 and June 2007 Equity-based compensation classification in personnel expenses compared to classification in other operating income and expenses in June 2006.

The EUR 4.9 million charge for Equity based compensation is made of EUR 4.4 million related to the stock option plans granted in previous years, and EUR 0.5 million related to the Management and Long-Term incentive plans implemented during the period as described below.

"Long-term Incentive Plan"

On May 17, 2007, the Group has set up a performance share plan called "long-tem incentive". Under this plan, 168,658 shares were granted. The stock price at the grant date was EUR 43.98. The aim of this plan is to motivate employees and to reinforce the group's capability to reach challenging financial targets, in line with Shareholder's value creation. The vesting period is:

- 2 years followed by a lock-up period of 2 years, or
- 4 years and no lock-up period.

Vesting conditions are subject to:

- the realization of Group financial objectives
- the realization of personal achievements
- a presence of the beneficiary in the Group throughout the vesting period.

The number of shares obtained by the employees will vary in a 0 to 3 range depending on the level of performance reached.

Under this plan, the Group has recognized a personnel cost amounting to EUR 367.7 thousand during the first semester of 2007. Expected cost for 2007 is EUR 1.8 million. Annualized cost is EUR 2.9 million.

"Management Investment Plan"

On June 18, 2007, the Group has set up a free share plan, whereby free shares are granted upon the acquisition of an equivalent number of shares.

The aim of this plan is to promote employee ownership and retention.

Under this plan, 218,185 shares were granted. The stock price at grant date was EUR 45.64. The vesting period is:

- 2 years followed by a lock-up period of 2 years, or;
- 4 years and no lock-up period.

Vesting conditions are subject to the presence in the Group and investment in Atos Origin shares throughout the vesting period. The initial investment is subject to a 2 year lock-up period.

Under this plan, the Group has recognized a personnel cost amounting to EUR 161.8 thousand during the fist semester of 2007. Expected cost for 2007 is EUR 2.1 million. Annualized cost is EUR 3.9 million.

Methodology used

In accordance with the specific guidance issued by the CNC (Conseil National de la Comptabilité), the cost related to the MIP and LTI plans take into account the effect of the 2 years lock-up period restriction, whenever applicable, calculated based on the following parameters:

- Risk free interest rate: 4,47%
- Credit spread: 1,00%
- Borrowing-lending spread: 1,5%
- Employee turnover ratio: 4%

Note 4 Operating expenses

(In EUR million)	6 months ended 30 June 2007	% revenue	6 months ended 30 June 2006	% revenue	12 months ended 31 December 2006	% revenue
Purchase for selling and royalties	(141.4)	-4.9%	(152.8)	-5.7%	(306.3)	-5.7%
Sub-contracting costs	(357.7)	-12.4%	(283.6)	-10.5%	(561.5)	-10.4%
Premises costs	(123.5)	-4.3%	(115.2)	-4.3%	(223.0)	-4.1%
Means of production	(206.8)	-7.2%	(208.5)	-7.7%	(397.3)	-7.4%
Telecommunications	(56.9)	-2.0%	(58.3)	-2.2%	(114.4)	-2.1%
Travelling expenses	(67.6)	-2.3%	(61.3)	-2.3%	(130.2)	-2.4%
Taxes, other than corporate income tax	(8.0)	-0.3%	(14.5)	-0.5%	(30.6)	-0.6%
Other operating expenses	(111.8)	-3.9%	(73.8)	-2.7%	(188.6)	-3.5%
Sub-total expenses	(1,073.7)	-37.2%	(968.0)	-35.9%	(1,951.9)	-36.1%
Depreciation of fixed assets	(101.5)	-3.5%	(87.8)	-3.3%	(176.3)	-3.3%
Net book value of assets sold/written off	(0.5)	-0.0%			(2.2)	-0,0%
Net depreciation of current assets	(5.1)	-0.2%	0.5	0.0%	(3.2)	-0.1%
Net charge to provisions	9.6	0.3%	8.6	0.3%	(20.7)	-0.4%
Sub-total depreciation and provisions	(97.5)	-3.4%	(78.7)	-2.9%	(202.4)	-3.9%
Total	(1,171.2)	-40.5%	(1,046.7)	-39.0%	(2,154.3)	-40.0%

Note 5 Other operating income and expenses

(In EUR million)	6 months ended 30 June 2007	6 months ended 30 June 2006	12 months ended 31 December 2006
Restructuring and rationalization	(29.4)	(7.8)	(31.2)
Net profit /(charge) relating to major litigations	(5.3)	(12.1)	(13.1)
Release of opening balance sheet provisions no longer needed	3.1	6.4	13.7
Capital gains and losses on disposal of assets	21.6	(1.0)	1.5
Impairment losses on long-term assets	-	(60.0)	(377.6)
Total	(10.0)	(74.5)	(406.7)

The net charge for restructuring and rationalisation primarily consist of plans in the United Kingdom and Italy incepted last year.

As a result of the implementation of a new governance model, the Management Board has been tightened around Philippe Germond who has been appointed by the Supervisory Board as the identified successor of Bernard Bourigeaud as Group CEO. Considering this decision from the Supervisory Board, both Bernard Bourigeaud, Group CEO and Dominique Illien, Member of the Management Board have expressed their intention to leave the Company.

This has been effective for Dominique Illien as of 1 June 2007 and will be effective for Bernard Bourigeaud as of 31 December 2007. As a consequence on the consolidated accounts of the first half of 2007, a charge was booked for respectively EUR 2.5 million and EUR 4.5 million within the restructuring costs.

The net charge relating to major litigations corresponds to extra-ordinary settlement and litigations with third parties, essentially in France, in the United Kingdom and in Sweden.

The release of opening balance sheet provisions no longer needed mainly relates to positive settlement on tax related exposures.

The capital gain on disposal of assets primarily relates to the sale of the Actis business in Germany.

Note 6 Net financial income

Net cost of financial debt

(In EUR million)	6 months ended 30 June 2007	6 months ended 30 June 2006	12 months ended 31 December 2006	
Net Interest expenses	(15.1)	(11.3)	(24.2)	
Gain /(loss) on disposal of cash equivalents	1.8	2.4	4.4	
Gain/(loss) on interest rate hedges of financial debt	0.8	(2.2)	(2.9)	
Net cost of financial debt	(12.5)	(11.1)	(22.7)	

The average net debt during the first six months 2007 was EUR 479 million, with an average net cost of financial debt amounting 5.23% before interests swaps and to 5.55% after interests swaps.

Other financial income and expenses

(In EUR million)	6 months ended 30 June 2007	6 months ended 30 June2006	12 months ended 31 December 2006
Foreign exchange (expenses)/ income and hedge-related	(3.3)	1.0	(4.6)
Other financial (expenses)/ income	8.6	5.0	16.8
Discounting financial expenses	(0.1)	(0.3)	(0.7)
Other financial income and expenses	5.2	5.7	11.5

The EUR 8.6 million of Other financial income mainly relates to pensions, and represents the positive difference between the interests cost and the expected return on plan assets.

Note 7 Income tax expenses

Interim period income tax is accrued based on the estimated average annual effective income tax rate of 37.5%, compared with 31.0% for the first half-year 2006 (adjusted for goodwill impairment).

Note 8 Minority interests

(In EUR million)	31 December 2006	2007 Income	Others	30 June 2007
Atos Euronext Market solutions	156.0	2.9	(0.5)	158.4
Atos Worldline Processing GmbH	3.8	0.6	-	4.4
Others	5.7	2.0	(1.4)	6.3
Total	165.5	5.5	(1.9)	169.1

Note 9 Earnings per share

The dilutive instruments are composed of stock options which do not generate any restatement on the net income used for the diluted earnings per share calculation.

Basic and diluted earnings per share are reconciled as follows:

	6 months ended 30 June 2007	6 months ended 30 June 2006	12 months ended 31 December 2006
Net income - Group share [a]	57.3	10.4	(264.4)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding [b]	68,898,338	67,424,238	67,614,323
Impact of dilutive instruments [c]	237,791	598,489	0
Diluted weighted average number of shares [d]=[c]+[b]	69,136,128	68,022,727	67,614,323
Earnings per share in EUR [a]/[b]	0.83	0.15	(3.91)
Diluted earnings per share in EUR [a]/[d]	0.83	0.15	(3.91)

The total average number of stock options not exercised on first half of 2007 amounted to 6,385,657 shares, out of which only 237,791 have a dilutive effect on the earning per share.

Note 10 Goodwill

(In EUR million)	31 December 2006	Acquisition/ depreciation	Disposals	Others	Exchange rate fluctuations	30 June 2007
Gross value	2,466.3	2.4	-	(3.1)	(1.9)	2,463.7
Impairment loss	(420.7)	-	-	-	(0.7)	(421.4)
Carrying amount	2,045.6	2.4	-	(3.1)	(2.6)	2,042.3

The EUR 2.4 million increase in the goodwill relates to the acquisition of Uni-Medecine Group.

The EUR 3.1 million decrease in other movements primarily consists of adjustments to the Banksys opening balance sheet.

Goodwill is allocated to the Group's cash generating units (CGUs) by geographical segment. The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial business plans approved by management, covering a three-year period.

Note 11 Trade accounts and notes receivable

(In EUR million)	30 June 2007	31 December 2006
Gross value	1,755.4	1,612.60
Transition costs	33.8	22.9
Provision for doubtful debts	(36.1)	(35.6)
Net asset value	1,753.1	1,599.9
Prepayments	(26.2)	(21.0)
Deferred income and amounts due to customers	(332.8)	(271.5)
Net accounts receivable	1,394.1	1,307.4
Number of days' sales outstanding	74	68

Note 12 Cash and cash equivalent

(In EUR million)	30 June 2007	31 December 2006
Cash in hand and short term bank deposit	162.8	441.5
Money market funds	21.5	12.4
Total	184.3	453.9

Depending on market conditions and short-term cash flow expectation, Atos Origin may from time to time invest in Money Market Funds for a maturity not exceeding three months.

Note 13 Pension

The net total amount recognised in the balance sheet in Group accounts in respect of pension plans and assimilated benefits is EUR 427.6 million.

Group commitments are located predominantly in the United Kingdom (56% of Group total obligations), in The Netherlands (35%), and in Germany (4%).

The measurement of the related liabilities is highly sensitive to long term interest rates, on which the discount rate to be used under IAS 19 is based. Reference discount rates used have significantly increased during the first half 2007: from 5% and 4.55% at December 2006 to 5.75% and 5.25% at June 2007 in the United Kingdom and Eurozone respectively.

By application of its accounting policies, and in order to better reflect this significant market evolution in its June accounts, the Group has elected to request interim actuarial updates of the measurement of the pension liabilities, and related assets, of its main pension plans.

As a consequence of the increase in discount rates and the good performance of equity assets held by its pension funds, the net financial situation of group pension plans has significantly improved over the first half 2007, the funded status of post employment plans moving from a deficit of EUR 476.9 millions at December 2006 to a deficit of EUR 144.3 millions at June 2007, including some pension plans being now in a surplus situation. Because of the corridor mechanism, the net provision shown on group balance sheet at 30 June 2007 does not fully reflect this improvement, most of the impact being reported as unrecognized gains for EUR 275.1 millions against net unrecognized losses of EUR 42.4 millions at 31 December 2006.

(In EUR million)	30 June 2007	31 December 2006
Amounts recognised in financial statements consist of :		
Prepaid pension asset - Post employment plans	18.6	12.2
Accrued liability - Post employment plans	(430.1)	(438.5)
Accrued liability - Other long term benefits	(430.1)	(430.3)
Net amount recognised – Total	(427.6)	(446.4)
Reconciliation of prepaid (accrued) Benefit cost		
Funded Status - post employment plans	(144.3)	(476.9)
Funded Status - other long term benefit plans	(16.1)	(20.1)
Unrecognised Actuarial (Gain) Loss	(275.1)	42.4
Unrecognised Past Service Cost	7.9	8.2
Any other amount not recognised (asset ceiling limitation,)	-	0
Prepaid (Accrued) Pension Cost	(427.6)	(446.4)
Of which non-current financial assets	18.6	12.2
Reconciliation of net amount recognised		
Net amount recognised at beginning of year	(446.4)	(483.7)
Net periodic pension cost – Post employment plans	(24.9)	(33.2)
Employer contributions for - Post employment plans	32.6	67.2
Benefits paid by employer – Post employment plans & other long term benefits	11.2	17.0
Business combinations / disposals	0	(7.4)
Other (other long term benefit, exchange rate)	(0.1)	(6.3)
Net amount recognised at end of year	(427.6)	(446.4)

In the first half of the year, the Group has engaged in the United Kingdom with the Trustees of its various pension arrangements in a process of redefinition of employee benefits. This process aims at securing and harmonizing employees pension entitlements while optimizing Group pension obligation.

On 23 May 2006 the Annual General Meeting as approved through its 5th resolution the principle of a pension scheme for Management Board members. On 24 July 2007 the Supervisory Board has decided to implement the plan rules of that pension scheme for the Management Board and key Senior executives, by externalising the Group obligation through an insurance coverage with a reputable insurance carrier. The current estimate of the corresponding obligation does not exceed the amount already accrued for at the end of 2006. The plan will be fully implemented by the end of the year.

Note 14 Provisions

(In EUR million)	31 December 2006	Charge	Release used	Release unused	Other (a)	30 June 2007	Current	Non Current
Reorganisations	39.2	36.8	(41.6)	(12.7)	5.6	27.3	27.3	
Rationalisations	33.6	1.0	(6.3)	(2.9)	(1.0)	24.4	5.6	18.8
Project commitments	81.1	7.1	(11.3)	(5.5)	(0.9)	70.5	70.5	
Litigations and contingencies	110.1	11.9	(2.3)	(12.6)	(8.1)	99.0		99.0
Total provisions	264.0	56.8	(61.5)	(33.7)	(4.4)	221.2	103.4	117.8

(a) Other movements mainly consist of the currency translation adjustments and impacts of changes in scope of consolidation.

Movements on the provisions impact the income statement aggregates as follows :

(In EUR million)	Charge	Release Unused (b)	Sub-total	Release Used (c)
Operating margin	(15.7)	8.2	(7.5)	28.7
Other operating items	(40.5)	21.3	(19.2)	32.4
Financial result	(0.5)	0.3	(0.2)	-
Тах	(0.1)	3.9	3.8	0.4
Total Income Statement impact	(56.8)	33.7	(23.1)	61.5

(b) « unused » means without costs in counterpart in the income statement and without cash outflow in the cash flow statement.

(c) « used » means consumed in the period with costs in counterpart in the income statement and with cash outflow in the cash flow statement.

Note 15 Borrowings

(In ELIP million)	30 June 2007			31 December 2006			
(In EUR million)	Current	Non-Current	Total	Current	Non-Current	Total	
Finance leases	(18.5)	(11.5)	(30.0)	(23.0)	(19.4)	(42.4)	
Bank loans	(1.5)	(430.3)	(431.8)	(3.8)	(550.6)	(554.4)	
Securitization	(159.0)	-	(159.0)	(160.8)	-	(160.8)	
Other borrowings	(50.2)	(21.9)	(72.1)	(37.4)	(19.2)	(56.6)	
Total borrowings	(229.2)	(463.7)	(692.9)	(225.0)	(589.2)	(814.2)	

Tangible assets held under finance leases had a net carrying value of EUR 30.7 million.

Non-current borrowings maturity

(In EUR million)	1 to 2 year	2 to 3 year	3 to 4 year	4 to 5 year	Over 5 years	Total
Finance leases	(8.1)	(2.4)	(1.0)			(11.5)
Bank loans	(0.7)	(0.4)	(0.4)	(427.9)	(0.9)	(430.3)
Other borrowings	(5.3)	(3.6)	(6.1)	(6.9)		(21.9)
As at 30 June 2007 long -term debt	(14.1)	(6.4)	(7.5)	(434.8)	(0.9)	(463.7)
As at 31 December 2006 long-term debt	(16.2)	(9.4)	(5.9)	(556.6)	(1.1)	(589.2)

Change in net debt over the period

(In EUR million)	Notes (*)	6 months ended 30 June 2007	6 months ended 30 June 2006
Opening net debt		(360.3)	(180.5)
New borrowings	-n	(31.2)	(27.3)
Repayment of long and medium-term borrowings	-0	152.3	139.2
Increase /(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	q	(269.6)	(252.1)
Long and medium-term debt of companies purchased during the period	r	-	-
Long and medium-term debt of companies sold during the period	S	0.1	
Impact of exchange rate fluctuations on net long and medium-term debt	t	-	(10.8)
Other changes (**)	u	0.1	5.6
Closing net debt		(508.6)	(325.9)

(*) For reconciliation to the consolidated cash flow statement and the cash flow by activity below (**) Other changes include profit sharing amounts payable to French employees transferred to debt, IAS 32/39 impact and new finance lease over the period.

Cash flow by activity over the period

(In EUR million)	Notes (*)	6 months ended 30 June 2007	6 months ended 30 June 2006
Cash from operating activities	а	144.8	188.9
Income tax paid	b	(17.1)	(9.1)
Change in working capital requirement	С	(103.3)	(197.2)
Net cash from operating activities		24.4	(17.4)
Purchase of tangible and intangible assets	d	(169.1)	(95.5)
Proceeds from disposals of tangible and intangible assets	е	1.3	1.2
Net cash from operations		(143.4)	(111.7)
Other changes	j+k+l+m+p+t+u	(27.8)	(25.2)
Net cash before financial investments		(171.2)	(136.9)
Financial Investments(**)	f+g+r	2.9	(15.4)
Proceeds from disposals of financial investments	h+i+s	20.0	6.9
Net financial investments		22.9	(8.5)
Net cash flow		(148.3)	(145.5)
Opening net debt		(360.3)	(180.5)
Closing net debt		(508.6)	(325.9)

(*) For reconciliation to the consolidated cash flow statement (**) Financial investments are positive due to the price adjustment on Banksys for EUR 6.6 million.

Note 16 Fair value and characteristics of financial instruments

	30 Ju	30 June 2007		31 December 2006	
(In EUR million)	Assets	Liabilities	Assets	Liabilities	
Forward foreign exchange contracts	1.1	(1.9)	1.2	(1.9)	
Interest rate swaps	0.6	-		(1.2)	
Analysed as:					
Non-current	0.6	-		(1.2)	
Current	1.1	(1.9)	1.2	(1.9)	

Breakdown of the designation of the instruments per currency is as follows:

	30 June 2007		31 Decemb	per 2006
Instruments	Fair Value	Notional	Fair Value	Notional
Cash Flow Hedge				
Interest rate				
Swaps	0.6	250.0	(1.2)	250.0
Foreign exchange				
Forward contracts USD	(0.7)	10.5	(0.7)	17.8
Forward contracts INR	0.3	15.5		
Forward contracts other currency				
Fair Value Hedge – Trading				
Foreign exchange				
Forward contract USD	0.4	7.1	0.8	17.9
Forward contract GBP	0.0	5.7	(0.3)	11.1
Forward contract BRL/ZAR	(0.7)	4.4	(0.4)	9.1

The net amount of cash flow hedge reserve at 30 June 2007 was EUR (0.3) million, with a variation of EUR 0.7 million net of tax over the period.

Note 17 Trade accounts and notes payable

(In EUR million)	30 June 2007	31 December 2006
Trade payables	662.9	595.7
Amounts payable on tangible assets	6.4	13.4
Total	669.3	609.1

Note 18 Other current liabilities

(In EUR million)	30 June 2007	31 December 2006
Advances and down payments received on client orders	26.2	21.0
Employee-related liabilities	302.3	307.3
Social security and other employee welfare liabilities	208.2	219.2
VAT payable	149.9	178.0
Deferred income	263.2	198.4
Other operating liabilities	155.4	139.0
Total	1,105.2	1,062.9

Note 19 Off-balance-sheet commitments

Contractual commitments

In EUR million	Maturing				
	30 June 2007	Up to 1 year	1 to 5 years	Over 5 years	31 Dec. 2006
Long-term borrowings (> 5 years)	431.8	1.5	429.4	0.9	554.4
Finance leases	30.0	18.5	11.5	-	42.4
Recorded on the balance sheet	461.8	20.0	440.9	0.9	596.8
Operating leases: land, buildings, fittings	601.6	135.7	382.0	83.9	574.1
Operating leases : IT equipment	76.3	43.3	33.0	-	97.2
Operating leases: other fixed assets	114.1	47.4	66.7	-	119.8
Non-cancellable purchase obligations (>5 years)	17.3	11.3	5.8	0.2	12.5
Commitments	809.3	237.7	487.5	84.1	803.6
Total	1,271.1	257.7	928.4	85.0	1,400.4

Commercial commitments

(In EUR million)	30 June 2007	31 December 2006
Bank guarantees	140.7	135.7
Pledges	0.4	1.0
Total	141.1	136.7

For various large long term contracts, the Group provides performance or financial guarantees to its clients. These limited exposure guarantees amount to EUR 1,229.9 million as of 30 June 2007, compared with 1,198.3 million as of 31 December 2006.

Note 20 Subsequent events

On 25 July, 2007, the British Department of Health announced that planned diagnostics services that should have been operated by the Group in North West and South West regions will not proceed. On the date the termination letter was issued, Atos was within days of receiving official clearance to deliver services which were on schedule for commencement in late August.

Following this termination, the Group will conduct the required procedures to mitigate its effects. As of the date of legal publication of the Group interim financial statements, an uncertainty remains with regards to the financial consequences of this situation. The Group is facing an unexpected situation that does not allow enough time to properly assess the recoverable value of the assets, due to their customizations and complexity. The same holds true for the prospective settlement regarding the

recovery of other expenditures on the project. Accordingly all the potential impacts will be recorded during the second semester.

As of June 30, 2007, the net balance sheet position in Group books is:

(In EUR million)	30 June 2007		
Intangible assets	4.4		
Tangible assets	24.8		
Transition costs	12.4		
TOTAL NET ASSETS	41.6		

In addition to the balance sheet positions as of June 30, the Group is engaged into off-balance sheet commitments. This consists of both a parental guarantee for EUR 16.3 million, operating leases related to the numerous sites requested by the contracts and purchase commitments for which evaluation is underway.

This position does not take into account any potential contingent asset nor liability associated to the stop of the contracts.

The Group is working to achieve a mutually satisfactory financial closure to the contracts with the client. Furthermore, the Group is taking strong actions towards suppliers and potential assets buyers, so as to minimize the potential impacts, and recover part of the cash expensed during the first half of the year.

On 1 August 2007, following 12 June announcement and in agreement with the Supervisory Board, Bernard Bourigeaud, Atos Origin Chairman of the Management Board and CEO, announced that as of 1 October 2007 Philippe Germond will become Chairman of the Management Board and CEO of the Group. Bernard Bourigeaud will remain in the Group until 31 December 2007 in order to ensure a smooth transition.
10 COMMON STOCK EVOLUTION AND SHARE PERFORMANCE

Atos Origin shares are traded on the Paris Eurolist Market under Euroclear code 5173 ISIN FR0000051732. They were first listed in Paris in 1995. The shares are not listed on any other stock exchange and Atos Origin SA is the only listed company in the Group.

10.1 TRADING OF SHARES (EURONEXT)

Number of shares traded	: 68,983,818
Sector classification	: Information Technology
Main index	: CAC AllShares
Other indices	: CAC IT, CAC IT20, CAC Next20, Euronext 100, SBF120
Market	: Eurolist segment A
Trading place	: Euronext Paris (France)
Tickers	: ATO (Euronext)
Code ISIN	: FR0000051732
Payability PEA / SRD	: Yes / Yes

10.2 COMMON STOCK

10.2.1 Common stock at 30 June 2007

At 30 June 2007, the Company's issued common stock amounted to EUR 69.0 million, comprising 68,983,818 fully paid-up shares of EUR 1 par value each. Changes in the total number of issued shares of the Company during the half-year come all from exercise of 102,853 stock subscription options.

Transactions	Number of shares issued	Common stock (in EUR million)	Additional paid-in capital (in EUR million)	Total (in EUR million)
At 31 December 2006	68,880,965	68.9	1,384.3	1,453.2
Exercise of stock options	102,853	0.1	2.5	2.6
At 30 June 2007	68,983,818	69.0	1.386,8	1.455,8

10.2.2 Share ownership structure

Main shareholders

Principal changes in the ownership of the Company's shares during the first half of 2007 have been as follows:

	30 June	e 2007	31 December 2006	
In shares	Shares	%	Shares	%
Centaurus	6,544,204	9.5%	6,544,204	9.5%
Management Board	117,180	0.2%	121,598	0.2%
Supervisory Board	2,040	0.0%	2,050	0.0%
Total Directors	119,220	0.2%	123,648	0.2%
Employees	1,492,972	2.2%	1,538,860	2.2%
Treasury stock	705,293	1.0%	258,293	0.4%
Public	60,122,129	87.2%	60,415,960	87.7%
Total	68,983,818	100.00%	68,880,965	100.0%

The ownership of the Company's shares by employees relates to ownership plans such as mutual funds and corporate savings plans.

Disclosure of interests

The Company has not been advised of any share movement in the first half of 2007.

On 5 and 13 July 2007, the Company was advised of the following disclosure of interests:

	Date of statement	Shares	% interest (a)	% voting rights (b)
Deutsche Bank AG	05/07/07	5,179,132	7.51%	7.58%
Deutsche Bank AG	13/07/07	508,911	0.74%	0.74%

(a) On the basis of the capital at this date

(b) On the basis of the capital excluding treasury stock at this date

Following shareholders approval on 23 May 2006, a Long Term Incentive plan and a Management Investment Plan were approved to replace annual stock options plans and as described in section 7.4 Human Resources, the Management Board had the opportunity to benefit of such schemes.

As far as LTI is concerned, and as described in the annual reports 2005 and 2006, and as per section 7.4 Human Resources, 168,658 performance free shares subject to presence and financial performance were granted to 372 managers of which 29,958 free shares to the Management Board members present on June 30th 2007.

As far as MIP is concerned and as described in section 7.4 Human Resources, 217,110 retention free shares subject to presence and investment in Atos Origin shares during the two-year period were granted to 168 managers of which 31,968 free shares granted to the Management Board members based on their investment on equivalent number of Atos Origin shares.

10.2.3 Potential common stock

Number of stock subscription options at 31 December 2006	6,445,741
Stock subscription options granted in H1 2007	
Stock subscription options exercised in H1 2007	(102,853)
Stock subscription options forfeited in H1 2007	(53,284)
Stock subscription options expired in H1 2007	-
Number of stock subscription options at 30 June 2007	6,289,604

During the period no stock options were granted as annual stock options plans have been replaced by long term incentive and management incentive plan as described in section 7.4 Stock options can be granted for exceptional cases such as key recruitments and for specific retentions.

A total of 53,284 stock subscription options were cancelled and 102,853 were exercised during the period

Based on 68,983,818 shares in issue, the common stock of the Company could be increased by 6,289,604 new shares, representing 8.4% of the common stock after dilution. This can occur only through the exercise of stock subscription options granted to employees and stock subscription warrants, as detailed below.

In shares	30 June 2007	31 Dec. 2006	Change	% dilution	EUR million
Number of shares outstanding	68,983,818	68,880,965	102,853		
Stock subscription options	6,289,604	6,445,741	-156,137	8.4%	389.3
Total Employees	6,289,604	6,445,741	-156,137	8.4%	389.3
Total potential common stock	75,273,422	75,326,706	-53,284		

The exercise of all the options would have the effect of increasing total shareholders' equity by

EUR 389 Million and common stock by EUR 6.3 million.

Nevertheless, 14% of stock subscription options granted to employees have an exercise price that exceeds the stock market price at 30 June 2007 (EUR 46.38).

Unused authorizations to issue shares and share equivalents

Having regard to resolutions voted during the Annual Shareholders Meeting on 23 May 2007, the unused authorizations to issue shares and share equivalents are the following:

Authorisation (in EUR)	Amount authorised Par value	Amount utilised Par value	Amount not utilised Par value	Authorisation expiry date
EGM 23/05/2007 9 th resolution	3,440,000		3,440,000	23/07/2010
Stock subscription options				
EGM 23/05/2007 7 th resolution Common stock increase with preferential subscription rights	20,664,000		20,664,000	23/07/2009
EGM 23/05/2007 8 th resolution Common stock increase in payment for contributions in kind	6,890,458		6,890,458	23/07/2009
EGM 23/05/2007 10 th resolution Common stock increase reserved for employees	5,512,367		5,512,367	23/07/2009
EGM 23/05/2006 11th resolution Common stock increase without pr Subscription rights (in deduction of authorisation above)			6,716,075	23/07/2008

As a result, the potential authorization to issue shares is 36.5 million of shares and represents 53% of current issued common stock.

The following authorisation to cancel shares corresponds to 10% of the issued common stock as of June 2005.

Authorisation	Amount authorised	Amount utilised	<u>Amount not</u> <u>Utilised</u>	Authorisation
(in EUR)	Par value	Par value	Par value	expiry date
EGM 03/06/2005	6,716,075		6,716,075	EGM approving accounts as o f 31/12/2009
12 th resolution Share cancellation				
Common stock			6,716,075	

10.3 DIVIDENDS

The AGM on 23 May 2007 approved the recommendation of the Supervisory Board not to pay a dividend related to 2006 results. The Company has not paid any dividends in the last five years.

The Group's current policy is reviewed at regular intervals.

Atos Origin Half-Year Report 2007 75/87

10.4 SHARE TRADING PERFORMANCE

10.4.1 Monthly and quarterly trading volumes

Based on a closing share price of EUR 46.38 at the end of June 2007 and 68,983,818 shares in issue, the market capitalization of the Group at 30 June 2007 was EUR 3.2 billion.

Source : Euronext	High	Low	Closing	Weighted average price	Trading Volume	Trading Volume
		(in EUR pe	er share)		(in thousands of shares)	(in EUR thousands)
January	47.0	42.5	42.9	44.8	10,640	476,436
February	46.2	39.5	40.9	43.8	15,958	698,857
March	51.4	39.0	50.1	47.3	31,916	1,510,465
1 st Quarter 2007					58,513	2,685,758
April	55.3	49.7	53.0	53.2	24,852	1,321,205
Мау	55.1	43.6	45.8	47.9	38,995	1,867,407
June	47.0	44.1	46.4	45.7	15,743	719,647
2 nd Quarter 2007					79,590	3,908,259
% of capital traded c	luring the period	d :	200%		138,103	6,594,017

The daily average number of shares traded during the first 6 months of 2007 was 1,100,000, which is +146% compared to H1 2006 (+71% compared to full-year 2006 average). The monthly average trading volume during the first 6 months of 2007 was EUR 1.1 billion, +100% higher than H1 2006 level (+70% compared to full-year 2006 average).

10.4.2 Post closing event

On 5 July 2007, following the purchase of Atos Origin shares on the market, Deutsche Bank announced they exceeded the 5% threshold on 28 June 2007 and hold 7.51% of share capital and voting rights.

On 13 July 2007, following the sale of Atos Origin shares, Deutsche Bank announced holding less than 5% of share capital with 0.74%.

On 8 August 2007, following the purchase of Atos Origin shares on the market, Pardus Capital Management announced they exceeded the 5% threshold and hold 7.32% of share capital and voting rights.

11 SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

11.1 COMMUNICATION

The Company aims to provide regular and clear information to all its shareholders, whether private individuals or institutions. We ensure the uniformity and transparency of information through the distribution of formal financial documents, the Company's web site and personal meetings.

11.2 CONTACTS

Institutional investors, financial analysts and individual shareholders may obtain information from:

Gilles Arditti

Tel. : + 33 (0) 1 55 91 28 83 E-mail : gilles.arditti@atosorigin.com

Or by sending requests for information to investors@atosorigin.com

11.3 SHAREHOLDER DOCUMENTATION

In addition to the Half-Year Report, which is published in English and French, the following information is available to shareholders:

An annual report Quarterly revenue and trading update announcements The Company's informational website at www.atosorigin.com Regular press releases, available through the web site or via the AMF database

Legal documents relating to the Company bylaws, minutes of Shareholder Meetings, Auditors' reports, etc. may be viewed at the Company's registered office (Legal Department) by prior appointment.

11.4 REGISTRAR

The Company's share registrar and paying agent is Société Générale.

11.5 FINANCIAL CALENDAR

	2007 Calendar					
•	Thursday 15 November 2007	 Third quarter revenue for 2007 				
•	Thursday, 31 January 2008	 Fourth quarter revenue and full year results for 2007 				

11.6 UPDATE OF DOCUMENTS ISSUED

In accordance with Article 221-1-1 of the Autorité des Marchés Financiers (AMF) general regulations, the following list includes all financial information published or made available since 1 January 2006.

This proposed list is part of the 2007 Half-Year Report as an update of the "Document de Référence" 2006 filed with the AMF on 6 April 2007 and registered under the number D07-302.

This document is a full free translation of the original French text

Document	Date of issue	Source
Financial reports		
 Half-year report 2007 Annual report 2006 Half-year report 2006 Annual report 2005 	01/08/07-28/08/07 28/02/07-06/04/07 06/09/06-30/10/06 08/03/06-15/05/06	website Atos Origin / website AMF website Atos Origin / website AMF website Atos Origin / website AMF website Atos Origin / website AMF
Financial press releases		
 Half year results 2007 Annual Results 2006 Half-year results 2006 Annual results 2005 	01/08/07 28/02/07 06/09/06 08/03/06	website Atos Origin / website AMF website Atos Origin / website AMF website Atos Origin / website AMF website Atos Origin / website AMF
 First quarter revenue 2007 Fourth quarter revenue 2006 Third quarter revenue 2006 Second quarter revenue 2006 First quarter revenue 2006 Fourth quarter revenue 2005 	14/05/07 05/02/07 31/10/06 18/07/06 28/04/06 31/01/06	website Atos Origin / website AMF website Atos Origin
Financial presentations		
 Half-year 2007 results Full-year 2006 results Operational 2006 results and transformation plan Half-year 2006 results Full-year 2005 results 	01/08/07 28/02/07 05/02/07 06/09/06 08/03/06	website Atos Origin website Atos Origin website Atos Origin website Atos Origin website Atos Origin
Other financial communications		
 Description of share buy back program Transaction declaration Employee shareholders plan Trading program of Company's shares 	29/05/07 22/05/07-18/06/07 18/09/06 08/03/06 -	website Atos Origin / website AMF website Atos Origin / website AMF website Atos Origin / website AMF website Atos Origin / website AMF
Shareholders' meetings		
 Shareholders' meeting presentation 2006 Minutes of the AGM 2006 (full text of resolutions and results of vote) 	23/05/07 23/05/07	website Atos Origin Company's registered office
 Shareholders' meeting presentation 2005 	23/05/06	website Atos Origin
 Minutes of the AGM 2005 (full text of resolutions and results of vote) 	23/05/06	Company's registered office
Auditors reports		
 Auditors' review report on the first half-year financial information 2007 	28/08/07	Company's registered office / Commercial court / Document de Reference
 Auditors' letter regarding the information given in the half-year report 2007 	28/08/07	Company's registered office
Atos Origin Holf Voor Poport 2007 79/97		

 Auditors' report on the consolidated financial statements 2006 	06/04/07	Company's registered office/Commercial Court/Document de reference
 Auditors' report on the parent company financial statements 2006 	06/04/07	Company's registered office/Commercial Court/Document de reference
 Auditors' special report on regulated agreements 2006 	06/04/07	Company's registered office/Commercial Court/Document de reference
 Auditors' special report on the report prepared by the Chairman of the Supervisory Board 2006 	06/04/07	Company's registered office/Commercial Court/Document de reference
 Auditors' letter regarding the information given in the Document de Reference 2006 	06/04/07	Company's registered office
 Auditors' letter regarding the information given in the half-year report 2006 	30/10/06	Company's registered office
 Auditors' review report on the first half-year financial information 2006 	19/09/06	Company's registered office / Commercial court / Document de Reference
 Auditors' letter regarding the information given in the Document de Reference 2005 	12/05/06	Company's registered office
 Auditors' report on the consolidated financial statements 2005 	07/03/06	Company's registered office / Commercial court / Document de Reference
 Auditors' report on the parent company financial statements 2005 	07/03/06	Company's registered office / Commercial court / Document de Reference
 Auditors' special report on regulated agreements 2005 	07/03/06	Company's registered office / Document de Reference
 Auditors' special report on the report prepared by the Chairman of the Supervisory Board 2005 	07/03/06	Company's registered office / Document de Reference
Financial statements		
 Condensated consolidated financial statements fo the first half 2007 	^r 01/08/2007	Company's registered office / Commercial court / Document de reference
 Consolidated financial statements 2006 	28/02/2007	Company's registered office / Commercial court / Document de reference
 Parent company financial statements 2006 	28/02/2007	Company's registered office / Commercial court / Document de reference
 Condensated consolidated financial statements for the first half 2006 	20/10/06	Company's registered office / Commercial court / Half-year report
 Consolidated financial statements 2005 	07/03/06	Company's registered office / Commercial court / Document de Reference
 Parent company financial statements 2005 	07/03/06	Company's registered office / Commercial court / Document de Reference
Declarations		
 Auditors' fees 2006 	28/02/07	website AMF / Document de Reference
 Declaration of share transfer made by board members of Atos Origin 	07/02/06-17/05/06	website AMF / Document de Reference
 Auditors' fees 2005 		website AMF / Document de
	15/05/06	Reference

Disclosure of liquidity contract
 27/02/06
 website AMF

Websites mentioned :

- Atos Origin <u>www.atosorigin.com</u>
- AMF <u>www.amf-france.org</u> > Décisions et informations financières > Communiqués des sociétés
- BALO <u>www.journal-officiel.gouv.fr</u>

12 PERSONS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE DOCUMENT AND THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12.1 PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR THE REFERENCE DOCUMENT AND ITS UPDATE

Bernard Bourigeaud

Chairman of the Management Board and Chief Executive Officer

12.2 PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR THE ACCURACY OF THE REFERENCE DOCUMENT AND ITS UPDATE

To the best of our knowledge, the information presented in this document as an update of the reference document fairly reflects the current situation and includes all information required by investors to assess the net asset position, activities, financial solvency, results and future prospects of the Company. We confirm that no information likely to have a material impact on the interpretation of these documents has been omitted.

Bernard Bourigeaud

Chairman of the Management Board

12.3 PERSONS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Statutory Auditors	Deputy Auditors
Grant Thornton	Cabinet IGEC, 3, rue Léon Jost, 75017 Paris
Daniel Kurkdjian and Vincent Papazian	
Appointed on: 30 May 2002 for a term of 6	Appointed on: 30 May 2002 for a term of 6
Term of office expires: at the end of the AGM held to adopt the 2007 financial statements	Term of office expires: at the end of the AGM held to adopt the 2007 financial statements
Deloitte & Associés Jean-Paul Picard and Jean-Marc Lumet	Cabinet B.E.A.S., 7/9, Villa Houssay 92200 Neuilly-sur-Seine
Appointed on: 23 May 2006 for a term of 6	Appointed on: 23 May 2006 for a term of 6
Term of office expires: at the end of the AGM held to adopt the 2011 financial statements	Term of office expires: at the end of the AGM held to adopt the 2011 financial statements

13 GLOSSARY – DEFINITIONS

Financial terms and Key Performance Indicators

- Current and non-current
- DSO
- EBITDA
- EPS
- Gearing
- Gross margin Direct costs
- Indirect costs
- Interest cover ratio
- Leverage ratio
- Net debt
- Adjusted EPS
- Adjusted net income
- OMDA
- Operating income
- Operating margin
- Operational Capital Employed
- ROCE (Return Of Capital Employed)

Business terms

- BPO
- CMM
- CRM
- ERP
- LAN
- MMS
- SCM
- WAN

Business Key Performance Indicators

- Attrition rate
- Backlog / Order cover
- Book-to-bill
- Direct and indirect staff
- External revenue
- Full Time Equivalent (FTE)
- Legal staff
- Order entry / bookings
- Organic revenue growth
- Permanent and temporary staff
- Pipeline
- Ratio S
- Subcontractors and interims
- TCV (Total Contract Value)
- Turnover
- Utilization rate and non-utilization rate

Market terms

- Consensus
- Dilutive instruments
- Dividends
- Enterprise Value (EV)
- Free float
- Free float capitalisation
- Market capitalisation
- PEG (Price Earnings Growth)
- PER (Price Earnings Ratio)
- Volatility

13.1 FINANCIAL TERMS AND KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS USED IN THIS DOCUMENT

Operating margin. Operating margin comprises operating income before major capital gains or losses on the disposal of assets, major reorganisation and rationalisation costs, impairment losses on long-term assets, net charge to provisions for major litigations and the release of opening balance sheet provisions no longer needed.

Operating income. Operating income comprises net income before deferred and income taxes, net financial expenses, share of net income from associates and the results of discontinued operations.

EBITDA (Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation). For Atos Origin, EBITDA is based on Operating margin less non-cash items and is referred to as **OMDA** (Operating Margin before Depreciation and Amortisation)

OMDA (Operating Margin before Depreciation and Amortisation) is calculated as follows:

Operating margin

Less - Depreciation of fixed assets (as disclosed in the "Financial Report") Less - Operating net charge of provisions (composed of net charge of provisions for current assets and net charge of provisions for contingencies and losses, both disclosed in the "Financial Report") Less - Net charge of provisions for pensions (as disclosed in the "Financial Report") Less - Equity-base compensation

Gross margin and **Indirect costs**. Gross margin is composed of revenues less the direct costs of goods sold. Direct costs relate to the generation of products and/or services delivered to customers, while indirect costs include all costs related to indirect staff (defined hereafter), which are not directly linked to the realisation of the revenue. The operating margin comprises gross margin less indirect costs.

Adjusted net income. Net income (Group share) before unusual, abnormal and infrequent items, net of tax.

EPS (earnings per share). Basic EPS is the net income divided by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is the net income divided by the diluted weighted-average number of common shares for the period (number of shares outstanding + dilutive instruments with dilutive effect). **Adjusted EPS** is based on adjusted net income.

Operational capital employed. Operational capital employed comprises net fixed assets and net working capital, but excludes goodwill and net assets held for sale.

Current and non-current assets or liabilities. A current and non-current distinction is made between assets and liabilities on the balance sheet. Atos Origin has classified as current assets and liabilities those that Atos Origin expects to realise, use or settle during its normal cycle of operations, which can extend beyond 12 months following the period-end. Current assets and liabilities, excluding the current portion of borrowings and financial receivables, represent the Group's working capital requirement.

Net debt. Net debt comprises total borrowings (bonds, finance leases, short and long-term bank loans, securitisation and other borrowings), short-term financial assets and liabilities bearing interest with a maturity of less than 12 months, less cash and cash equivalents (transferable securities, cash at bank and in hand).

DSO (Days' sales outstanding). DSO is the amount of trade accounts receivables (including work in progress) expressed in days' revenue (on a last-in, first-out basis). The number of days is calculated in accordance with the Gregorian calendar.

Gearing. The proportion, expressed as a percentage, of net debt to total shareholders' equity (Group share and minority interests).

Interest cover ratio. Operating margin divided by the net cost of financial debt, expressed as a multiple.

Leverage ratio. Net debt divided by OMDA.

ROCE (return on capital employed). ROCE is net income (Group share), before the net cost of financial debt (net of tax) and the depreciation of goodwill, divided by capital employed.

13.2 MARKET TERMS

Consensus. Opinion that emerges from the financial community, in which financial analysts play a prominent role. Consensus can relate to earnings outlook (individual stock consensus) or to a group of companies in the same sector (market consensus).

Dilutive instruments. Financial instruments such as bonds, warrants, stock subscription options, free shares, which could be converted into shares and have therefore a potential dilutive impact on common stock.

Dividends. Cash or stock payments from a company's profits that are distributed to stockholders.

Free float. Free float is the proportion of a Company's share capital that is regularly traded on the stock exchange. It excludes shares in the six categories listed below (source Euronext):

- Shares held by Group companies
 Shares of the listed company held by companies that it controls within the meaning of Article 233/3 of the French Commercial Code.
- Shares held by founders
 Shares held directly or indirectly by the founders (individuals or family group) when these founders
 have managerial or supervisory influence (management positions, control by voting rights, influence
 that is a matter of public knowledge, etc.).
- Shares held by the State Interests held directly by the State, or by public sector or other companies which are themselves controlled by the State.
- Shares within the scope of a shareholders agreement
 Shares subject to a shareholders' agreement within the meaning of Article 233/10 and 11 of the French Commercial Code, and other than those held by founders or the State.
- Controlling interest Shares held by juridical persons (other than founders or the State) exercising control within the meaning of article 233/3 of the French Commercial Code.
- Interests considered stable
 Interests exceeding 5%, which have not declined by one percentage point or more, excluding the impact of dilution, in the three preceding years. This category also includes shareholders that, in addition to or in association with the link represented by share ownership, have recently entered into significant industrial or strategic agreements with the Company.

Free-float capitalisation. The share price of a company multiplied by the number of free-float shares as defined above.

Market capitalisation The share price of a company multiplied by the number of its shares in issue.

Volatility. The variability of movements in a share price, measured by the standard deviation of the ratio of two successive prices.

Enterprise Value (EV). Market capitalisation + debt.

PER (Price Earnings Ratio). Market capitalisation divided by net income for a trailing (or forward) 12-month period.

PEG (Price Earnings Growth). Price-earnings ratio divided by year-on-year earnings growth.

13.3 BUSINESS TERMS

BPO (Business Process Outsourcing). Outsourcing of a business function or process, e.g. administrative functions such as accounting, HR management, call centres, etc.

CMM (Capability Maturity Model). CMM is a method for evaluating and measuring the competence of the software development process in an organisation on a scale of 1 to 5.

CMMI. Capability Maturity Model Integration.

CRM (Customer Relationship Management). Managing customer relationships (after–sales service, purchasing advice, utilization advice, customer loyalty) has become a strategic component of a company's successful operation. Not only does CRM facilitate efficiency, it also leads to higher sales by building customer loyalty.

ERP (Enterprise Resource Planning). An ERP system is an integrated management software system built in modules, which is capable of integrating sales, manufacturing, purchasing, accounting and human resources systems into an enterprise-wide management information system.

LAN (Local Area Network). A local network that connects a number of computers within a single building or unit.

MMS (Multimedia Message Service). A message capable of carrying text, sounds, fixed or animated colour images, generally sent to a mobile phone.

SCM (Supply Chain Management). A system designed to optimise the logistics chain, aimed at improving cost management and flexibility.

WAN (Wide Area Network). A long–distance network that generally comprises several local networks and covers a large geographical area.

13.4 BUSINESS KPIS (KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS)

13.4.1 Revenue

External revenue. External revenue represents Atos Origin sales to third parties (excluding VAT, nil margin pass-through revenue).

Book-to-bill. A ratio expressed in percentage terms based on order entry in the period divided by revenue of the same period.

Order entry / bookings. The total value of contracts (TCV), orders or amendments signed during a defined period. When an offer is won (contract signed), the total contract value is added to the backlog and the order entry is recognised.

TCV (Total Contract Value). The total value of a contract at signature (prevision or estimation) over its duration. It represents the firm order and contractual part of the contract excluding any clause on the decision of the client, as anticipated withdrawal clause, additional option or renewal.

Backlog/ Order cover. The value of signed contracts, orders and amendments that remain to be recognised over their contract lives.

Pipeline. The value of revenues that may be earned from outstanding commercial proposals issued to clients. Qualified pipeline applies an estimated percentage likelihood of proposal success.

Organic growth. Organic growth represents the % growth of a unit based on a constant scope and exchange rates basis.

13.4.2 Human resources

Legal staff. The total number of employees under Atos Origin employment contracts at the end of the period. Legal staff includes those on long sickness or long absence, apprentices, trainees, and employees on maternity leave, but excludes subcontractors and interims.

FTE (Full-time equivalent) staff). The total number of staff calculated using information from time sheets on the basis of working time divided by standard contractual workable time per employee. In general, a person working on a full time contract is considered as one FTE, whereas a person working on a part time contract would be less considered than one FTE.

Calculations are based on contractual working time (excluding overtime and unpaid holidays) with potential workable time (in hours or days) = nominal time + overtime balance – unpaid vacation. For subcontractors and interims, potential workable hours are based on the number of hours billed by the supplier to Atos Origin.

Subcontractors. External subcontractors are third-party suppliers. Outsourced activities (e.g. printing or call centre activities) and fixed price subcontracting are excluded from the recorded number of subcontractors or interims.

Interims. Staff from an agency for temporary personnel. Interims are usually used to cover seasonal peaks or for situations requiring staff for a short period of time.

Direct Staff. Direct staff include permanent staff and subcontractors, whose work is billable to a third party.

Indirect staff. Indirect staff include permanent staff or subcontractors, who are not billable to clients. Indirect staff are not directly involved in the generation of products and/or services delivered to clients.

Permanent staff. Permanent staff members have a contract for an unspecified period of time.

Temporary staff. Temporary staff have a contract for a fixed or limited period of time.

Ratio S . Measures the number of indirect staff as a percentage of total FTE staff, including both own staff and subcontractors.

Staff turnover and **attrition rate** (for legal staff). Turnover and attrition rates measure the proportion of legal staff that has left the Company (voluntary and/or involuntary) in a defined period.

Turnover measures the percentage of legal staff that has left the business in a defined period.

Attrition measures the percentage of legal permanent staff that has voluntarily left the business in a defined period. Attrition rate is a ratio based on total voluntary leavers in the period on an annual basis divided by the average number of permanent staff in the period.

Utilization rate and **non-utilization rate**. Utilization rate + non-utilization rate = 100% of workable time for direct FTE, which excludes legal vacations, long-term sickness, long-term sabbaticals and parental leave. Workable time is composed of billed time, inactivity that is billable but not billed (exceptional holidays, sickness, on the bench which is between two assignments, other inactivity as delegation), and non-billable time (pre-sales, training, management meetings, research and development and travel).

Utilization rate measures the proportion of workable time (hours or days) of direct FTE (own staff excluding subcontractors) that is billed to customer. The ratio is expressed in percentage terms based on billed hours divided by workable hours excluding vacations. Non-utilization rate measures the workable time (hours or days) of direct FTE (own staff excluding subcontractors) that is not billed or is non-billable to clients.

14 CONTACTS

Headquarters

France Tour Les Miroirs – Bat C 18, avenue d'Alsace 92926 Paris La Défense Cedex Tél. : +33 1 55 91 2000 Fax : + 33 1 55 91 2005

Belgique

Da Vincilaan 5 B-1930 Zaventem Tél : +32 (0)2 712 37 77 Fax : +32 (0)2 712 37 78

Other Locations

Argentina Vedia 3892 P.B. C1430 DAL - Buenos Aires Tel: +54 11 4546 5500

Austria Technologiestraße 8 / Gebäude D A-1120 Wien

Tel: +43 1 60543 0

Belgium

Da Vincilaan 5 B-1930 Zaventem Tel: +32 2 690 2800

Global Consulting & Systems Integration (Global C&SI) Da Vincilaan 5 B-1930 Zaventem Tel: +32 2 712 3777

Brazil

Rua Itapaiuna 2434 - 2° andar - Santo Amaro São Paulo – SP CEP: 05707-001 Tel: +55 11 3779 2344

China 5th Floor, Lido Commercial Center Jichang Road Beijing 100004 Tel: +86 10 6437 6668

France Tour les Miroirs - Bât C 18, avenue d'Alsace 92926 Paris La Défense Cedex Tel: +33 1 55 91 2000

Atos Worldline France

Tour Manhattan 5-6 place de l'Iris 92926 Paris La Defense Cedex Tel: +33 1 49 00 9000

Outsourcing

Tour Horizon 64 Rue du 8 Mai 1945 92025 Nanterre Tel: +33 1 70 92 1340 Systems Integration Tour les Miroirs - Bât C 18, Avenue d'Alsace 92926 Paris La Defense Cedex

Atos Consulting 6-8 Boulevard Haussmann 75009 Paris Tel: +33 1 73 03 2000

Tel: +33 1 55 91 2000

Atos Euronext Market Solutions 6-8 Boulevard Haussmann F - 75009 Paris Phone: +33 1 73 03 0303

Germany Theodor-Althoff-Str. 47 D-45133 Essen Telefon: +49 (0) 20 14 3050

Atos Worldline GmbH Hahnstraße 25 D-60528 Frankfurt/Main Tel: +49 69 66566 0

Greece 18 Kifisias Avenue 151 25 Athens Tel +30 210 688 9016

AO Meda Tour les Miroirs - Bât C 18, avenue d'Alsace 92926 Paris La Défense Cedex Tél. : +33 1 55 91 2000

Hong Kong Suites 1701-8, Prudential Tower 21 Canton Road Tsimshatsui, Kowloon Tel: +852 2830 0000

India SDF-IV, Units 126/127 SEEPZ, Andheri (east) Mumbai 400 096 Tel: +91 22 28 29 0743

Indonesia Wisma Kyoei Prince, #1707 Jalan Jenderal Sudirman Kav. 3 Jakarta, 10220 Tel: +62 21 572 4373

Italy Via Riccardo Morandi, 32 00050 Roma Tel: +39 06 8307 4201

Piazza IV Novembre, 3 20124 Milano Tel: +39 2 66 7221 Viale Carlo Viola, 76 11026 Pont-Saint-Martin Tel : +39 1 25 81 0201 Japan 20/F Shinjuku Park Tower, 3-7-1 Nishi-shinjuku, Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo 163-1020 Tel: +81 3 3344 6631

Luxembourg Rue Nicolas Bové 2a 1253 Luxembourg Tel.: +352 31 36 37 1

Malaysia Suite F01, 1st Floor 2310 Century Square Jalan Usahawan 63000 Cyberjaya Selangor Darul Ehsan West Malaysia Tél. : +60 3 8318 6100

Mexico Hegel 141, Piso 1 Col. Chapultepec Morales CP 11570 Tel: +52 55 5905 3303

Poland ul. Domaniewska 41 02-672 Warszawa (budynek Taurus) Tel: +48 22 606 1900

Morocco Avenue Annakhil -Espace High tech Hall B – 5th floor HAYRYAD - Rabat Morocco Tel : +212 37 57 79 79

Portugal Av. 5 de Outubro, 73 - C, 1 andar Edifício Goya, Escritório 4 1050-049 Lisboa Tel: +351 21 359 3150

Singapore 8 Temasek Boulevard #07-01 Suntec Tower Three Singapore 038988 Tel: +65 6333 8000

South Africa 204 Rivonia Road, Sandton Private Bag X136 Bryanston 2021 Tel: +27 11 895 2000

Spain Albarracín, 25 28037 Madrid Tel: +34 91 440 8800 Atos Consulting Albarracín, 27 28037 Madrid Tel: +34 91 214 9500

Switzerland Industriestrasse 19 8304 Wallisellen Tel: +41 1 877 6969

24, Avenue de Champel 1206 Genève Tel: +41 22 789 3700

Switzerland (Telecom) Binzmühlestrasse 95 8050 Zürich Switzerland Tel : +41 1 308 9510

Taiwan 9F, No 115 Sec 3 Ming Sheng E Road Taipei Tel: +886 2 2514 2500

Thailand 200 Moo 4, 25th Floor Jasmine International Tower Room No. 2502 Chaengwattana Road Pakkret Nonthaburi 11120 Tel: +66 2 582 0955

The Netherlands Papendorpseweg 93 3528 BJ Utrecht Tel: +31 30 299 4444

Atos Consulting Papendorpseweg 93 3528 BJ Utrecht Tel: +31 30 299 4444

Turkey Kisikli Caddesi N°37 Aksel Is Merkezi 2 Kat Altunizade 34 662 Istanbul Tél. : +90 216 531 7383

United Kingdom 4 Triton Square Regent's Place London NW1 3HG Phone: +44 20 7830 4444

USA 5599 San Felipe Suite 300 Houston TX, 77056 Tel: +1 713 513 3000